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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w2

The board of directors (“Board” or “Directors”) of Ulferts
International Limited (“Company”) presents the consolidated results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (“Year”).

RESULTS

In the face of market challenges, the Group’s total revenue
inevitably decreased to HK$171.6 million (2023: HK$216.1 million)
during the Year. Gross profit was HK$99.7 million (2023: HK$133.2
million).

Revenue from the retail segment amounted to HK$155.1 million
(2023: HK$195.0 million), accounting for 90.4% (2023: 90.2%) of the
Group’s total revenue. Aggregate retail sales revenue of “Ulferts”
and “Ulferts Signature” amounted to HK$78.0 million (2023:
HK$110.0 million), and remained the key revenue contributor,
accounting for 50.3% (2023: 56.4%) of total retail revenue.
Aggregate retail sales revenue of “Slumberland’ and “Ulfenbo’
was HK$41.9 million (2023: HK$48.2 million), accounting for 27.0%
(2023: 24.7%) of total retail revenue. The retail sales revenue of
“at ¢ home” was HK$35.2 million (2023: HK$36.8 million),
accounting for 22.7% (2023: 18.9%) of total retail revenue.

Due to the decline in its total revenue, the Group recorded a net
loss of HK$25.0 million (2023: HK$21.0 million) during the Year.
Basic loss per share was HK3.13 cents (2023: HK2.63 cents).

MARKET REVIEW

Although the macroeconomic data showed signs of recovery during
the Year, the foundations of economic recovery remained weak.
While overall consumption sentiment has regained momentum, the
value index of retails sales of furniture has not yet fully returned to
normal levels. Facing the complex situation of accelerated market
demand differentiation, deepening competition patterns and
increasing challenges along with the gloomy property market, the
demand for furniture was sluggish during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading retailer of high quality home furniture mainly
imported from Europe. The Company’s shares have been listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
January 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR B

The Group has been established for over 45 years, and takes pride
in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong Kong. As at 31
March 2024, the Group operated a total of 24 points-of-sale (“POS”)
in Hong Kong under the trade names of “Ulferts Signature”,
“Ulferts” and “at e home”, which specialise in furniture products, as
well as “Ulfenbo” and “Slumberland’, which specialise in
mattresses and bedding products.

“Ulferts” and “Ulferts Signature” are dedicated to elevating
customers’ home living standard with style and quality, and offer a
wide variety of contemporary style furniture products targeting
middle to high-end groups. “at ¢ home” offers quality compact
furniture and home accessories to suit small living spaces of
modern families.

Targeting the mass market, “Ulfenbo’ offers mattresses, pillows,
sofabeds, sofas and other ancillary items, which are distributed
through “Ulfenbo” specialty stores and department store counters.

The Group is the sole agent of “Slumberland” and “Vono” in Hong
Kong and Macau. “Slumberland’ is a well-known British mattress
brand offering premium mattresses for households and hotels,
targeting high-end market while “Vono”, another British mattress
brand, targets the mass market. In addition to mattresses, both
brands also offer pillows and bedding products.

In addition, the Group is also operating online shopping platforms
for “Ulferts”, “at ¢ home” and “Ulfenbo”’, in order to maximise
market coverage and revenue.

Retail Business
e  Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the Group
defines and identifies target consumer profiles in order to
develop product and marketing strategies to reach out to their
specific preferences.

“Ulferts”, the Group’'s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality, stylish and luxury furniture. It offers a
wide variety of contemporary style furniture products, enabling
its customers to create their ideal homes. The Group operates
“Ulferts” showrooms across Hong Kong, targeting middle to
high-mid income groups. “Ulferts Signature’ offers high-end
branded furniture products and also luxury European tailor-
made furniture. It targets up-market customers seeking a
superior lifestyle. Another retail line, “at ¢ home”, offers quality,
stylish and compact furniture. It targets the mid-range segment
and is geared towards the needs of young couples and new
families.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB MR

With over 100 years’ history, the British brand “Slumberland’
targets up-market customers and is committed to providing
premium mattresses that enable customers to enjoy better and
healthier sleep, while “Vono”, another British mattress brand
owned by the same supplier targets the mass market. The
products of “Slumberland’ and “Vono” are distributed through
the stores of “Ulferts”, “at e home” and “Ulfenbo” as well as
department store counters of “Slumberland’.

“Ulfenbo” is a self-owned label which has been recognised by
the “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark” for ten consecutive years
since 2014, under the Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme
organised by the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong and Hong Kong Brand Development Council. “Ulfenbo”
products focus on mass market consumers who demand
quality but affordable mattresses, pillows and other ancillary
items to enhance their sleep experience. “Ulfenbo” products
are distributed through “Ulfenbo” stores, which are typically
small-scale, and are designed with a casual and relaxing
environment, to highlight smart living style. “Ulfenbo” products
are also distributed at “at e home” stores and department store
counters for enhancing the market reach.

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products — ranging
from leather and fabric sofas, cabinets, dining tables and
chairs, through wardrobes, coffee tables and sideboards, to
beds, which are imported from European and Asian countries.
The Group currently carries more than 50 furniture brands in
“Ulferts Signature’” and “Ulferts” showrooms, as well as
“at ¢« home” stores, including international brands such as
himolla, Gamma, MIDJ, egoitaliano and MALERBA, most of
which the Group has built long-standing relationship.
“at ¢ home” particularly offers various compact furniture
products with special features and functions to suit the local
small living spaces, as well as chic home accessories.

The Group also specialises in mattress and bedding products,
covering high-end and mass markets. “Slumberland’ mainly
offers mattresses with its unique posture springing system
which enhances the comfort and support of the body. Besides,
the Group offers mattresses, pillows, sofas, sofabeds, beds, as
well as other ancillary items under its self-owned label
“Ulfenbo”. By providing different models of mattresses and
pillows in various sizes with varying supports and features, the
Group endeavours to meet diverse customer needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE A

Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 24 POS in Hong Kong,
with the number of outlets in each retail line as follows:

EFUTFEHERE

R2024F3A31H AEEREBR
4 EHER BTERZBEHEWT ¢

Number of POS
SHERHE

Furniture Products

ERLE M

“Ulferts Signature’
TELE BB
“Ulferts”

CBLAE B

“at e home”
Tat e home |

Mattresses and Bedding Products

FR{ER R LA

“Slumberland” store and department store counters

TEIMER IS EEEARSEIE

“Ulfenbo” stores and department store counters

"EAEE  ERBERAREE

Total &&t

24

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either upscale
residential areas or major shopping areas, targeting middle to
high-mid income groups. With its solid presence in these
mature locations, the Group enjoys substantial foot traffic and a
high brand reputation. The Group’s flagship store, “Ulferts
Signature”, is a 3-storey store with gross floor area of
approximately 21,700 square feet, in Hung Hom. It features
more luxurious lines of furniture and masterpieces with opulent
designs and sophisticated finishing and excellent craftsmanship.
Premium brands including Cornelio Cappellini, Malerba and
Crystal Stone are available at “Ulferts Signature’. “at ¢ home”
stores are generally located in shopping malls which carries a
furniture theme. Meanwhile, “Ulfenbo” stores and department
store counters are situated in residential areas, to capitalise on
the market potential. During the Year, one “Ulfenbo” store was
opened in Tuen Mun.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR B

e  Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and "Ulferts” showrooms are spacious,
with a stylish and elegant environment, enabling the Group to
display a wide spectrum of products for customers to touch
and feel and to maximise customers’ shopping experience. The
ambience, setting and placement of furniture within the
distinctive display zones have all been tailor-designed by a
dedicated visual merchandising team to impart harmonious,
home-like comfort. The salespersons are well-trained and offer
customers advice catering for their personal needs. In
recognition of its service excellence, “at ¢ home” received the
“Quality Service Leader Seasonal Award — Furniture & Home
Accessories Category” for April to June 2023, in the Quality
Service Programme organised by the Hong Kong Retail
Management Association.

e Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for driving
long-term growth and success. To enhance brand awareness,
the Group regularly conducted a range of marketing and
promotional campaigns spanning social media engagements,
print advertisements, outdoor billboards and advertising as well
as pop-up exhibitions at suitable venues. It also launched
promotional campaigns such as seasonal sale, annual sale and
stock clearance sale, as well as joint promotions with banks
and other companies.

Wholesale Business

The Group operates a wholesale business spanning mattresses,
sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned label “Ulfenbo” as well as
the British brands “Slumberland’ and “Vono’ for mattresses and
bedding products, through over 100 dealers in Hong Kong and
Macau.

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group has a
special projects division, which undertakes furniture-related projects
primarily for corporate customers in relation to cinemas, hotels,
showflats, offices, staff quarters and tertiary institutions. The
division provides services ranging from planning and designing,
through procuring custom-made furniture to final installation for
corporate customers, as well as liaison services with furniture
manufacturers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB Rk

PROSPECTS AU

The macro environment will continue to present challenges in terms ZEERBFFEmMBER L BB UERIEE
of complexity, competition and uncertainty. The path to recovery for 1 AYBK B} o A1 £ 518 PE A B8 2R 52 B 75 m B
the local economy will be arduous and full of twists and turns. With 37 - BEZE [ STAEAW HER  RURAHD 18 T & 58
the interest rate cut expected to be pushed back, it would take time  {NERE MRXREEMAHZIETERFRE -
for this to catalyse a rebound in the local property market, which ~AEBEH RS0 & BEEHEE R IE
would take even longer to be reflected in the furniture market. The BRIBARIEREIRERRITEE - i EFFRMKE
Group will closely monitor the market situation and promptly ROMEFROER > BREBEFENGTS
respond as appropriate, and will be cautious in the course of REARNBEHKK WAESRKIZHLSHA
footprint expansion. It will remain steadfast in its strategic LURFEEREXRKEIRAIFFEN -
determination and core business focus, and strictly adhere to its

prudent financial and capital management policy, and continue

exercising stringent control over operating costs, in order to

enhance operation efficiency and achieve sustainability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no material change in the capital structure during the
Year. Cash and cash equivalents of the Group was HK$43.4 million
(2023: HK$62.1 million), which were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings of the Group
was nil (2023: nil), hence its gearing ratio was zero (2023: zero).
The Group has available banking facilities of approximately
HK$90.1 million as at 31 March 2024. The cash position and the
available banking facilities enable the Group to retain high flexibility
and endurance to cater for future development and market
uncertainty.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$105.7 million (2023: HK$128.2
million) and HK$65.0 million (2023: HK$69.9 million), respectively.
Current ratio and quick ratio of the Group were 1.6 (2023: 1.8) and
1.0 (2023: 1.2), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2024, the
Board considered that the Group had sufficient working capital for
its operations and future development plans against market
challenges.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s number of employees was 126
(2023: 133). Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration for
the Year were HK$43.6 million (2023: HK$45.9 million). Each
employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience and
performance, as well as market pay level. Staff benefits include
medical and life insurance, retirement benefits and other
competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentive or rewards to the staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in note 22 to the
financial statements.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESHREEASZERE

Executive Director and Chairman

YEUNG CHING LOONG, ALEXANDER, aged 38, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company and Chairman of the Board in
April 2024. He is the Chairman of the Executive Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Yeung is responsible for leading the Board and managing its work
to ensure that the Board effectively operates. He has years of
experience in retailing and wholesaling of furniture and a wide
range of management experience in various businesses covering
property investment and development, hotel operations, entertainment
production and investment, artiste management, film production,
investment and distribution, cinema development and operations,
financial and securities services, retailing of watch and jewellery as
well as media and publication. Mr. Yeung is currently a member of
the 14th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference ("CPPCC") and a member of the 14th
Beijing Municipal Committee of the CPPCC. He holds numerous
voluntary public service positions, with a particular focus on youth
development. He serves as a committee member of All-China Youth
Federation and vice chairman of Beijing Youth Federation.
Additionally, he is a member of Culture Commission, a member of
Hong Kong Arts Development Council and the Regional Commander
(Kowloon) of Civil Aid Service of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung is a board
member of Emperor Foundation, where he leads Emperor Group in
promoting charitable activities. He is also an executive director and
vice chairman of the board of Emperor International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor International”) and an
executive director of Emperor Culture Group Limited (Stock Code:
491) (“Emperor Culture”), both being listed members of Emperor
Group.

Executive Director and Managing Director

CHAN CHUEN YIN, aged 53, an Executive Director and Managing
Director of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2021 as
Managing Director of the operating company and is responsible for
the overall management and business strategies of the Group. Mr.
Chan is a member of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 30 years of experience in
operations, sales and marketing and business development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chan had held management positions in
various reputable corporations in Hong Kong covering consumer
and telecommunications industries.
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Executive Director, General Manager and Company
Secretary

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 59, an Executive Director of the
Company and the General Manager of the Group. She joined the
Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the business operational
management and policy implementation in the Group. Ms. Mok is
the Company Secretary of the Company and a member of the
Executive Committee as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Before joining the Group, she was a director of
Emperor International and Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited
(Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”) (being a listed member of
Emperor Group) from February 2000 to July 2011 and has
accumulated over 20 years’ experience in corporate management
and possesses experience in businesses including property
investment and development, retailing, wholesaling, marketing and
trading. Ms. Mok was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and the
United Kingdom, and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by
The University of Hong Kong. She also holds a Degree of Master of
Business Administration awarded by The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology.

Executive Director

WONG CHI FAI, aged 68, an Executive Director of the Company. He
has been involved in the management of the Group since 1992, and
is responsible for overseeing the financial management and
advising on the business strategic planing and development of the
Group. Mr. Wong is a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company. He has over 30 years of finance and management
experience in different businesses ranging from wholesaling and
retailing of furniture, property investment and development, hotel
and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and
securities services, cinema development and operation to
entertainment production and investment, artiste management as
well as media and publication. Mr. Wong is currently a director of
Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Watch & Jewellery
Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J"), Emperor Capital Group
Limited (Stock Code: 717) (“Emperor Capital Group”), Emperor
Culture and New Media Lab Limited (Stock Code: 1284) (“New
Media Lab”), all being listed members of Emperor Group. He is a
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 61, an Executive Director of
the Company. She has been involved in the management of the
Group since July 1992 and is responsible for overseeing the overall
corporate management and advising on the business strategy of
the Group. Ms. Fan is the Chairperson of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company. She has over 35 years of corporate management
experience in diversified businesses ranging from wholesaling and
retailing of furniture, property investment and development, hotel
and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and
securities services, cinema development and operation to
entertainment production and investment, artiste management as
well as media and publication. Ms. Fan is currently a director of
Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor
Capital Group, Emperor Culture and New Media Lab. She is a
lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.

Independent Non-executive Director

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 50, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She is the
Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as a Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 30 years of experience in
the accounting profession. She holds a Bachelor of Accounting
Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Corporate Finance Degree awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Independent Non-executive Director

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 50, was appointed as Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Chiu is a
partner of a solicitors firm, T.H. Koo & Associates. He was admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998 and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree
awarded by The University of Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

NG HOI YUE, aged 60, was appointed as Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Ng was
previously an executive director and deputy chief executive officer of
Asian Citrus Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 73) from August 2015 to
June 2023 and an independent non-executive director of Imperial
Pacific International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1076) from
November 2013 to March 2022. Mr. Ng has been practising as a
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He is a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in England.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EREHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 65 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) during the Year (2023: Nil).

The Directors did not recommend any payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the Year and an analysis of the
likely future development of the Group’s business are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 12 of this
annual report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 28 to 57 of this report and note 28 to the financial
statements respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had occurred
since the end of the Year up to the date of this annual report.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Five-
year Financial Summary on page 136. Discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, key relationships with the
Group’s key stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have significant impact on the Company are
set out in the 2023/2024 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 136 of this annual
report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 21 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RETAINED PROFITS/ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Details of movements in the retained profits/accumulated losses of
the Group during the Year are set out on page 68 of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

No Group’s reserves are available for distribution to the Shareholders
as at 31 March 2024, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Ordinance (2023: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 April 2024)

Mr. Chan Chuen Yin (Managing Director)

Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy

Mr. Wong Chi Fai

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as at
the date of this annual report are set out on pages 13 to 16 of this
annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note
8 to the financial statements.

In accordance with Article 79 of the Company’s articles of
association (“Articles”), Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (“Mr.
Alex Yeung”), who was appointed by the Board on 1 April 2024,
shall hold office from his appointment date until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment (i.e.
2024 AGM); whereas pursuant to Articles 80(1) and 80(3) of the
Articles, Mr. Wong Chi Fai and Mr. Ng Ho Yue shall retire by rotation
at the 2024 AGM. All of them, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the 2024
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during the
Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions which are
provided for in the Articles and in the directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability
and costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought
against the Directors and the directors of the Group respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the Board as
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to a
written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link of business
strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and
current market best practice). Remuneration should be paid with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the executive and non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group and
applicability of performance based remuneration. The Directors’
fees are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.
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Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience and
performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration package
includes, as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’ fees,
housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to financial performance of the Group and individual
performance, ad hoc rewards, share options and other competitive
fringe benefits such as medical and life insurances. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of
the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (“Chief Executives”)
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors adopted by the Company (“Ulferts Securities Code”)
were as follows:

(A) Long position interests in the Company

Ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”)

Capacity/
Nature of interests

51/ #RHE

Name of Director

MR

Mr. Alex Yeung
Bt

Eligible beneficiary of

Note: These Shares were held by Ulferts International Group
Holdings Limited (“Ulferts Holdings”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited
(“AY Investments Holdings”). AY Investments Holdings was
in turn held by First Trust Management AG (“First Trust”) in
trust for a private discretionary trust of which Mr. Alex Yeung
is one of the eligible beneficiaries.
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Annual Report 2023/2024 S

BEHFMDLREREAEE BB LB KB
ERBLULHSEHMKTEE - FMcaaE
(RBERME) BEXFE EFRE FER
BE N RS ET B BAKEYHRRLE
ARGEB 2 BIBETEA - 25 BRER
HWBEBARFHZEIMEN (MBEBREEASRK
)  EFERAEBAMURSIH AT ZHMF
BABIBN M FRKMEE KO -

EFRESITHABZESER

MR2024FE3A31H EERAATRZESIT
BAE (TEEITHRAE ) RAAT REAEH
ETE(EERESMPEERL (TESLPERK
Bl 1) BBXVER ) Z B 1D ~ ME B0 S (ERERE R
BARATREES LI E KOS I2KATHE
BrELMREER AR HBBEAQ
RN ESETESRZMNEETE ("B
BHFH L) BRTHERNAT RBRAT 2 Bk
AR :

(A) RADBIZIFEHER
AREZEBER (TG )

Approximate %

of issued

Number of voting Shares

Shares interested HERT
HEHRZRHEE FREERGEN %

600,000,000 75.00

a private discretionary trust
MARBEICAERZEA

MEE : ZERO BB EERERA
A(BXRAREER ) Z2ENE
AT B ERIZERARAR ("B
bR ) 556 - BXAREZEREIH
First Trust Management AG (" First
Trust ) LRABBEEEERTE M
BERERZEEEERIRALZ—-




DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEESIRAL
EREERE
(B) Long position interests in associated corporations of the (B) MARABIMEBEEZIFEER
Company
Ordinary shares =304
Number of Approximate %
shares of issued
Name of associated Capacity/ interested  voting Shares
Name of Directors corporations Nature of interests FaERZ EE#ETE
EENA HREEE 2 S/ tERE RNEE BERRMOEEL %
Mr. Alex Yeung Emperor International Eligible beneficiary of 2,747,611,223 74.71
BRE T2 F a private discretionary trust ~ (Note) ( {3 )
MABBETECEERZTA
Emperor E Hotel - Ditto - 851,353,645 71.63
HEREEE —RE- (Note) ( st )
Emperor W&J - Ditto - 4,298,630,000 63.41
REBHKE —RALE- (Note) ( fif&t )
Emperor Culture - Ditto - 2,371,313,094 73.80
RENLEZE —RE- (Note) ( if&t )
New Media Lab - Ditto - 315,000,000 52.50
MERE -RALE- (Note) ( Bi7&E)
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International Beneficial Owner 10,500,000 0.29
Vanessa RE R BEREEA
SEBIR L+
Note: Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, fict - MR HERYEFE - KE2EHK
Emperor Culture and New Media Lab are companies with KRE  KEEXRFTELIIR
their shares listed on the Stock Exchange. These shares were HEMRE R Ehe AR - 25K
ultimately owned by the respective private discretionary PHEBEBELARNBEERKES -5
trusts. Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interests in the same HERZEEAZEERIHTALZ
shares by virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries of — R AN ERE PEE RS

such trusts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the BRESIEEESI RN2024FE3831H &
Directors nor Chief Executives had any interests or short positions EFHEEITERAERARARNEEMHEEE
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or B (E&REZHMPEKRBIEXVEL) 2 E A
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of 17~ 1B MEREFZREATARRIAE -
the SFO).

SHARE OPTIONS R R 1

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 8 January AAFRBER20184 14 8 HEM—IEREA RS
2018 (“Share Option Scheme”), details of which are set out in note &I ("B E] L) - BEFBENMHEREKN
22 to the financial statements. No option was granted, exercised, &t 22 BERETTEIRMWLIE W ABAER
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its FEBRBESEIRL  BATE ~ FEHTARR -
adoption.
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The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit of the Share Option Scheme was both 800,000,000
Shares as at the beginning and the end of the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at
the end of the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at no time
during the Year was the Company, any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or Chief Executives or their spouses or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or Chief Executives, as at 31
March 2024, the persons or corporations (other than the Directors
or Chief Executives) who had, or were deemed or taken to have
interests and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

MAF R LERE - REBRESSEIET
ZETERERBEAVHEHNBREZRBNHS
800,000,000 j& °

(RESEEAN RS

BREBRERT SIS WEREMREHDHZHR
NRANEFEETUINAFERFE

BERMIEEZ LA

B DX Pl B est 815N RIRAEERE
AESRE AQR AEAZERAT HEAR
HRARMBARBRET LEMLH BEES
HEREITRAENKEFZERMBN 18 BT T
AIFEB AR AR A H AR A B2 B =X
EREE T ERA 4 -

Hith AT E 5 RABRARR 7 2 28

REFNEFXARBITHRAEA R202443
A31R BREFAZRSTHRABN TIAL
SEE R RN AR P EB B R A E
EERAREBE S NP EHREIZE 336 HRATHE
FRECMR (T ERETM,) 28R R EN
T

R Ah =

Number of Approximate %
Issued Shares of issued
Capacity/ interested voting Shares
Name of Shareholders Nature of interests HelERZ HEBETE
REHE 2HE Bin/ HmuE EBTRHAHE RERB DB %
AY Investments Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 600,000,000 75.00
BRI B NEZHEE S
First Trust Trustee of a private discretionary trust 600,000,000 75.00
MABBETECXTEA
Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert Founder of a private discretionary trust 600,000,000 75.00
(“Dr. Yeung”) FAABYIBETEZRITZA
BREET (THEL )
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse 600,000,000 75.00
BBt BBk
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Note: These Shares were the same Shares of which Mr. Alex Yeung had
deemed interest as set out under Section (A) of “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors or
Chief Executives were not aware of any other person or corporation
(other than the Directors and Chief Executives) who had, or were
deemed or taken to have, any interests or short positions in any
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the DI Register.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates was interested in any business which was considered to
compete or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had the following continuing connected
transactions with connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company and certain Director(s) had material
interests, directly or indirectly, in such transactions:

A. Master Leasing Agreement (“MLA”)

Date: 3 December 2020
Parties: (1) The Company
(2) Emperor International
Emperor International and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as “Emperor International
Group”.
Term: From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024
Nature: The MLA sets out the framework of the

terms governing all existing and future
tenancy/licensing transaction(s) (“Tenancy
Transaction(s)”) regarding leasing of certain
properties (including offices or retail shops)
from Emperor International Group with
aggregate tenancy annual caps being set
for each of the financial years ended 31
March 2022, 2023 and 2024.
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Connected
Relationship
and Director’s
Interests:

Announcement:
Circular:

Independent
Shareholders’
approval:

Aggregate
amounts:

Pursuant to the MLA, relevant member(s) of
the Group and any member(s) of Emperor
International Group may from time to time
enter into any definitive leasing agreement(s)
in relation to any Tenancy Transaction(s)
(“Definitive Leasing Agreement(s)”). The
terms of each Definitive Leasing Agreement
shall be on normal commercial terms or on
terms which are no less favorable to the
Group than terms offered by independent
third parties. The terms and rental shall be
subject to arm’s length negotiation and be
determined based on the condition of the
properties and with reference to the then
prevailing market rents on property(ies)
comparable in location, area and permitted
use.

As the Company and Emperor International
were both indirectly controlled by the respective
private discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Yeung,
Emperor International was a deemed connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed
interest in the transactions by virtue of being one
of the eligible beneficiaries of the relevant trust
controlling Emperor International.

8 June 2021
6 July 2021

10 August 2021

During the Year, the aggregate right-of-use
assets amount recognized and rental expense
amount paid in respect of the Tenancy
Transactions with Emperor International Group
were as follows:

Right-of-use assets 4,128,000

Rental expense . 2,592,000
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EEESIRA
EHETIRE
B. Master Agreements on Provision of Products and Services B. REERREREZERE
(D/MFY)
(B/B/%)
(i) Date of agreement Amount received
EA=k for the Year
(i) Term (HK$’ 000)
Scope of Products and wEES AEECW
Name of counterparties  Services provided (iii) Date of Announcement ZEH
HEYED REERR RBENEE ALBEH (F&T)
(1) Albert Yeurjgl Sales / provision of products and services by (i) 03/03/2023 594
Holdings Limited* the Group to relevant members of Emperor N
iy Group: (ii) 01/04/2023 -
BRAR" AEEMEEEEEBAKEHRE R 31/03/2026
EmRRE (iii) 03/03/2023

(i)  selling products and providing furniture
procurement consultancy services in
relation to their projects or for their own

consumption o
HEERIHEERREEMRELARE
HREER
(2)  Emperor International (i)  selling furniture coupons (i) 03/03/2023 114
e e 2
REHR HERmES (i) 01/04/2023 -
(iify - providing other types of ancillary 31/03/2026
services and any transaction of revenue (iif) 03/03/2023
nature
REEMENEERERETBRALER
FARG
(8)  Emperor Culture (i) 03/03/2023 2,503
g = Ny
REXfLER (il) 01/07/2023 -
30/06/2026
(ili) 03/03/2023
Total: 3,211
CHIE
* as agent acting on behalf of relevant members of Emperor Y ERRKREEEEEBEKE (KEE-
Group (other than the Group, Emperor International Group and REFRBFEELAREXCEXERR
Emperor Culture group) M) ITERRE
Connected Relationship and Director’s Interests FERGR R ESES
As the said counterparties were all directly or indirectly HARATAET A G2 RGBT AIZ 248
controlled by the respective private discretionary trusts set up BAARBEFEE RN EEZES At
by Dr. Yeung, they were deemed connected persons of the R FMRAE14AT  BERBLREA
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Alex AwBEAT ERGEEREFHHRE
Yeung had deemed interest in the transactions by virtue of EEHBENECERAGTERERIRA
being one of the eligible beneficiaries of the relevant trusts Z— AEEGEERZERZRHEFE
controlling relevant members of Emperor Group. il
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Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Save as the “sales of goods” in the amount of HK$3,211,000 out of
HK$3,221,000, interest expense on lease liabilities and lease
payments as shown in note 24(a) to the financial statements, none
of the other related party transactions as set out in note 24
constituted connected transactions or non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (“CCTs”) that are required to be disclosed
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company had
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the non-exempt
CCTs.

Independent Auditor’s Letter on Non-exempt CCTs

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s non-exempt CCTs in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’'s Letter”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The independent auditor had issued unqualified conclusions in
respect of the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors on Non-exempt
CCTs

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company (“INEDs”) had reviewed the
non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and confirmed that these
transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business of the Group;

(ify on normal or better commercial terms (as the case may be);
and

(iii) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract which was significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% (2023:30%) of the Group’s
total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 43.0% (2023: 39.1%) and 16.8% (2023: 14.9%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
number of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest
in the above major customers or suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, there was sufficient
public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for the Company so as to ensure “Accountability,
Responsibility and Transparency” towards Shareholders, investors,
employees as well as stakeholders of Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules so as to
having effective application of the principles of good corporate
governance. During the Year, the Company had fully complied with
all code provisions of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate culture,
focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity, excellence in
products and services, people first and positivity, which is
underpinned by its purpose and values that enable employees at all
levels of the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials by acting
in a lawful, ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company
to deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate in a way
that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for employees’
conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they are integrated throughout
the Company’'s operational practices, workplace policies and
practices and stakeholder relationships:
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and shaping the
corporate culture of the Company, as well as defining the purpose,
values and strategic direction of the Group, which are under review
by the Board. Taking into account the corporate culture is reflected
in various contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee
retention and training, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, value and strategy of
the Group are aligned with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership, control and promotion of success of the Group in the
interests of the Shareholders by directing and supervising its affairs
and by formulating strategic directions and monitoring the financial
and management performance of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

During the Year, the Board comprises seven Directors, with four Executive
Directors and three INEDs. Mr. Alex Yeung was appointed as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board on 1 April 2024. Names and
biographical details of the existing eight members of the Board are set out
on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report under “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” section. All of them possess the skills,
experience and expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the
management of the business of the Group.

In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Mr. Alex Yeung
had received training and legal advice on 29 January 2024 and that
he had confirmed he understood his obligations as a Director.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the following mechanisms were established during the Year:

e sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three, representing more
than one-third of the Board;

e no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

e separation of the role of the Chairman and the Chief Executives
ensures that there is a balance of power and authority; and

e annual meeting between the Chairman and all INEDs without
presence of other Directors provides an effective platform for
the Chairman to listen to independent views on various issues
concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation of these
mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.
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The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting out
the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives to the business nature of
the Company. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a wide range of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. The merits and contribution that
will bring to the Board for any Director proposed for re-election or
any candidate nominated to be Director will also be assessed,
taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of educational
background, professional knowledge, industry experience and
length of service. The diversity mix of the Board as at 31 March
2024 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age Distribution and
Length of Service

Number of Directors

RRBTRMWEFSLTTIBR BRIHE
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience
EEEAE

Related Industry Knowledge / Experience

LR e S

Business Management

EHEEE

Legal / Regulatory
=R EE

Financial & Accounting

MR e

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
KRR B R EREE

The Board’s gender diversity level is relatively high compared
to other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, with three
female directors out of seven (43%) as at the year end. During
the Year, the Nomination Committee recommended and the
Board approved to keep a target of having no less than 25%
female directors on the Board. The Nomination Committee was
of the view that the current gender diversity of the Board was
appropriate, balanced and exceeding the target set. Therefore,
no timeline or plan was proposed for further enhancing the
gender diversity target of the Board for the time being. The
Nomination Committee will continue reviewing the composition
of the Board to maintain diversity.

As at 31 March 2024, our total workforce comprised of 56%
female and 44% male, whereas senior management comprised
of 33% female and 67% male. The current gender diversity of
workforce was appropriate taking into account the business
models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election provisions under the Articles and the
Listing Rules. Based on the annual review conducted by the
Nomination Committee, the Board considered each of them to be
independent with reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

(i) EFFHEER S5

Number of Share of the
Directors Board
EEAH HESZLLH

4 57%

4 57%

3 43%

3 43%

7 100%
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Board Process EETERF

Other than regular Board meetings held during the Year, additional BRRAEERTEHEEFTSSHIN VERES
Board meetings, or meetings of Board committees established by the FIZEINNEZ S S HEESRUNES
Board to consider specific matters, were convened, when necessary. SEEREE LEERFESE-
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The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the Year is
set out below:

EENFFEHESRBERBINAT

No. of meetings attended / held

LRER/ BAEENE

Corporate

Executive Audit ~ Remuneration Nomination Governance General
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EE:2 gzg HEaE BHERE FMERE REERE LRELERE REAE
Executive Directors
HEE
Mr. Wong Chi Fai 44(C) 6/6 (C) - 7 - - I
ELELE
Mr. Chan Chuen Yin 4l 6/6 - - il - i
REELL
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy 44 6/6 - - - - n
EEENL
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 44 6/6 - - - 11(C) I
ERERL
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTES
Ms. Chan Yee Man 414 - 33(C) /1 1 - 1
RaZnt
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai 44 - 303 - 11(C) 7 N
il
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue 414 - 33 11(C) - 1 1
hETEE
Total number of meetings held: 4 6 3 1 1 1 1
gregiey:

C: Chairperson / chairman of the Board / committee

During the Year, the Chairman held a meeting with INEDs without
the presence of Executive Directors in compliance with code
provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company received biannual confirmation from each Director
that he / she has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company during the Year. Directors also disclosed to the
Company the changes, if any, in the number and nature of offices
they held in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitment, including the identity of the public companies or
organizations and an indication of the time involved.
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During the Year, Mr. Wong Chi Fai acted as the Chairman of the
Board who provided leadership to the Board. The day-to-day
management of the Group is delegated by the Board to the
Managing Director, Mr. Chan Chuen Yin and General Manager of
the Group, Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy who are responsible for the
Group'’s strategic planning, business growth and development. The
segregation of duties make the Board and the operation of the
Group function effectively.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a
written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting on the
relevant Board resolution and he / she shall not be counted in the
quorum present at such Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have access
to supporting papers and relevant information for each scheduled
meeting. All Directors also have access to the services of the
Company Secretary and her team, and may take independent
professional advice upon request, at the Company’s expense.

Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on appointment. Besides, the Company provides
Directors with regular updates on changes to and developments of the
Group’s business, and on the latest developments in the laws, rules
and regulations relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help
them make informed decisions and discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors.

During the Year, each Director participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars / workshops / reading materials on
the following topics to develop and refresh his / her knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training to the Company:

RAFE ESBALEEEEFEER &
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FHREREFEEEMIELUTMRERAIN
R MZEFENEABREEERBERRER
F BREHALRBZEFEERIEEAR
7 o
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EEMEREMRES
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Topics of training covered

Name of Directors B AP = 2R
Mr. Wong Chi Fai BEEEELE (1) corporate governance &S
Mr. Chan Chuen Yin REBLE (2) regulatory B
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy RRELL (3) finance B3
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SERUEL L (4) industry specific {72488
Ms. Chan Yee Man BRaEELL
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai RiEEEL
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue hETEE
Board Committees EEEET

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective AW EECETEBRSLMEETNEE &
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated HEETHBHAEECHEZEFTIEZRTFANTEE
by the Board to the Executive Committee, Audit Committee, & %ﬁ%&‘: CHINEET REBEEENK
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate TXELRZES FIEEEZESHUEME
Governance Committee mainly. Clear written terms of reference of WX ERESASHKECBESE -

all the Board Committees are given to the respective members of

these Committees.

1. Executive Committee 1. BTE8E
During the Year, the Executive Committee consists of all the NAEE ITZELH2EATESA
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (the then B BlEsEAE(ERZESEE )
Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Chan Chuen Yin, Ms. Mok Fung FREBLAE BREL T M EBEL -
Lin, lvy and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa. It has all powers and EHRBESSCMARDLERE  ELT
authorities of the Board except the following major matters as rﬁ%%%f%ﬁ&ﬂﬂ%%ﬁ%i%
set out in a “Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and H EAAEEIR THcERFER
delegated by the Board”: ah
determining the Group’s objectives and strategies; i EEAERCBEERREE
i. approving annual and interim results and financial i. #HOEFERPHEELUNTERS
reporting;
ii. declaring or recommending payment of dividends or other i, EIRNEFRIKNEENEMDIK ;

distributions;

iv. approving major changes that require notification by iv.  HOERE CARRAMASEIED
announcement under the Listing Rules; BHCEREE ;

v. approving publication of announcements for notifiable v. HOEREECHRATIZEBRETAM
transactions (except for discloseable transactions in R ZNE (REBES BV EREEL
relation to lease transactions recognizing the right-of-use F16R"HE RERCAEEEC
asset according to HKFRS 16 “Leases”) under the Listing MERXZEBETHEIIZRI):
Rules;
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vi. approving non-exempt connected transactions / non-
exempt CCTs (other than those transactions took place
from time to time under the master agreement(s)
previously approved by the Board / Shareholders (as the
case may be)) under the Listing Rules; and

vii. approving major capital restructuring and issue of new
securities of the Company.

To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the
formulation and implementation of the environment, social and
governance (“ESG”) initiatives of the Group, a sub-committee
under the Executive Committee known as the ESG Committee
was set up. The ESG Committee consists of representatives from
operations and supporting departments and the Executive
Committee. It has the powers and authorities as delegated by
the Executive Committee to formulate and execute relevant ESG
action plan, and assess and make recommendations on
matters concerning the Group’s sustainability development and
ESG risks and opportunities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Ms. Chan
Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set
out in its terms of reference which include duties specified in
the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed with the management / finance personnel and / or
the external auditor the effectiveness of audit process and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, and the accuracy and fairness of the annual
consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 (“Previous Year”) and the interim
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended
30 September 2023;

ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance personnel
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the Previous Year;

vi. HOERE EMARBZIFRBEER
2/ FHRRFTERERS (LHER
BEg RR(BBENME) ERIE
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BEREN ) B
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B
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a(TRE g RER DERARTEES
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YRR TRE - HERERERES,
MNEEES - BRIE - HEREREED
HEERXERFAARATEESHNAE
Mk EBEARTZEGRTHREDLE
R DHERATHENRERE 8 RE
BITEEE W EAEBCUFERR
RERE @B RRRMNEERBENE
HRRHEREREE -

FRESE

BEREEGH-RBEIIFATESMER
BREEat (EESETE ) BEELE
RARgTEE-

EREZEENIZACRBIRENERE
E > ERBJEEEEATRIATE PRB
B WEESRBRAT AR AR Mk

RAFEER BEREESMETZIER
ZEIINT

. HEBEE HBAER HINER
HMERE AR R RNEBTEM
ZeRAEER R UEE
FE2023F3AMHLEMBEE (" £
FEENDEEREVBEREREIEE
2023495 30 H1E/NE A = H 847
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R
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iii. performed annual review of the non-exempt CCTs of the
Group for the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
independent auditor at the 2023 annual general meeting
(*2023 AGM™);

v. reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit services
payable to the independent auditor;

vi. reviewed the independence of the independent auditor
and approved its engagement;

vii. approved the audit plan for the Year;

viii. reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function; and

ix. recommended to the Board on the formal adoption of
policy on use of external auditor for non-audit services for
the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members
during the Year, namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the
Committee) and Ms. Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr.
Wong Chi Fai, being an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation to
the Board; and

i. reviewed the current remuneration structure / package of
the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific
packages.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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Before recommendation to the Board, the Remuneration
Committee has reviewed and assessed the remuneration
package of the Directors with reference to the Group’s
operating results, duties and level of responsibility of the
Directors and the prevailing market conditions. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year are set out in
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee) and Ms. Chan
Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Chan Chuen Yin, being an
Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are
set out in its terms of reference which include duties specified
in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nomination,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, and Board
succession pursuant to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company.

The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable candidates
for directorship based on the Board Diversity Policy and sets
out the nomination criteria and the nomination procedures for
(i) nominating new Director to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board; (ii) making recommendation to Directors and
Shareholders regarding any Director proposed for election or
re-election at general meeting; and (iii) nomination by
Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential candidates
from any source as it may consider appropriate and evaluate
them by considering various factors, including their professional
expertise, industry and business experience, time commitments,
potential contributions to board diversity, material conflict of
interest with the Group (if any) and independence (for INEDSs).
The Committee will then make recommendation of suitable
candidates to the Board for consideration of appointment. In
case of re-appointment of existing Directors who will retire at
annual general meetings (*“AGM(s)”), the Committee will review
the retirement by rotation of Directors and make
recommendations to the Board accordingly.
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A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

i.  reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding independent
views of the Board;

iii. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

iv. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in performing their
duties as Directors;

v. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the 2023 AGM;

vi. reviewed the gender diversity target at Board level;
vii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and

viii. made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
Mr. Alex Yeung as new Director and Chairman of the
Board.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
consists of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive Director,
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs, a
representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG Committee is
available on the Company’s website. The primary duties of the
CG Committee are (i) developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Company (“CG
Policy”) and making recommendations to the Board; (ii)
reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(iii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to Directors and relevant employees of the Group
regarding dealings in the Company’s securities; (iv) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and (v)
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this annual report.
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A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation to the
Board;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to Directors and
relevant employees of the Group regarding securities
transactions; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee of the
Company, had duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by
taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on no less
exacting terms than the required standards as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules regarding the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, all of them confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in Ulferts
Securities Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare the annual
consolidated financial statements of the Group and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The management has
provided all members of the Board with monthly updates on internal
consolidated financial statements which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the
Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgment and estimates that were prudent and
reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial statements were
prepared on a “going concern” basis (with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary) and showed a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group for the Year. The management had
provided sufficient explanation and information to the Board on the
consolidated financial statements to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before it for
approval. The independent auditor of the Company had made a
statement about their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation and day-
to-day running of a business and it assists a company in achieving
its business objectives. Internal control policies and procedures
within the Group are updated regularly with the primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on a basic
framework of risk management and internal control systems (“Risk
Control Systems”).

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s internal control
measures and procedures covering governance, operational,
financial and compliance controls; and (ii) risk management
functions in the principal subsidiaries of the Company for the Year.

A. Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective Risk Control Systems.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems include:
e safeguarding assets;

e ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial
records and reports;

e promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations
and laws; and

e promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.
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Internal Control

The control structure of the Risk Control Systems is set out as

follows:

1. Governance Controls
The Board

responsible for the overall Risk Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness;

oversee the Risk Control Systems on an ongoing basis
with the assistance of the Audit Committee;

ensure the maintenance of appropriate and effective
Risk Control Systems;

define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limits of authority; and

determine the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks) that the Group is willing to take
in achieving the strategic objectives and formulate the
Group’s risk management strategies.

Audit Committee

review and discuss the Risk Control Systems with the
management annually to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to maintain effective Risk Control
Systems. This discussion includes the adequacy of
resources, staff qualification and experience, training
programs and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting function;

review the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external
environment;

review and discuss annually with the significant control
failings or weaknesses that are identified by the
auditors; and

consider major findings on internal control matters (if
any) raised by internal and independent auditors and
make recommendations to the Board.
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Executive Committee

with the assistance of the ESG committee, review the
effectiveness of ESG-related Risk Control Systems
and report to the Audit Committee for its review and
discussion with the Board.

The management (includes Managing Director, heads of
business units, departments and divisions)

design and implement the Risk Control Systems’
policy and procedures duly endorsed by senior
management and the Board;

monitor the Risk Control Systems properly and ensure
that they are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks in
their day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the findings
on internal control matters raised by internal or
independent auditors; and

provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems.

Internal Audit Department

carry out the analysis on sample basis and independent
appraisal of adequacy and effectiveness of the Risk
Control Systems in respect of controls of all material
aspects;

alert the management on the audit review findings or
irregularities, if any, and advise them on the implementation
of necessary steps and actions to enhance the internal
controls of the Group; and

report the results of internal audit reviews and agreed
action plans to the Audit Committee and the Board on
regular basis.
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2. Operational Controls 2. EEERF
i.  Approach taken: The management communicates i FTEEAE %ﬁ)ﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁl
with relevant staff, reviews relevant documentation of ETEE WEBERELERLS
the Risk Control Systems and evaluates findings of ﬁ%%Xf¢&aﬁE$%ﬂ B RS2
any deficiencies in the design of the Group’s Risk RRBETRRTRIR ZEFAE
Control Systems, then provides recommendations for PR EER LR LFTHER
improvement and assesses the effectiveness of BRERBECBERM(HER) -
implementation of such recommendations, where BFEREZREZEGERYERE
appropriate. The scope and findings of review on the RAGEFANSERER UK
Risk Control Systems will be reported to and reviewed HEER -

by the Audit Committee annually.

i. Procedure manuals and operational guidelines: i. REFBREFEES  ZAHIE
They are in place to safeguard the assets against DIREEE DI RKEREER
unauthorized use or disposition and ensure maintenance NEE jﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%—rﬁﬁﬁ%@- .
of proper accounting records that are in compliance with RALERGEEES Gt
the applicable laws, rules and regulations for the LPURHE AIS= I B ERME N B
provision of reliable financial that are information for B SN -

internal use and / or external publication.

ii. Procurement: The Group maintains a list of approved i, ¥ AEERBE—DOERBEERE
suppliers for purchase of inventory. All suppliers and RHMOENHLIER S - AT B
their payment terms are pre-approved by Managing FER REANRETIIREFRAL
Director and recorded in systems. Managing Director BRI EW RN RS - 5T &
stipulates the amount of inventory purchase each ERKEREETENE  EFE
month after taking into account inventory level and KERFTEANEGRER - &
sales forecast. Inventory provision policy is based on GHREREHENREGFREENE
aging position of inventory items and their condition. IR RE G- FTETEER
All consignment items are approved by Managing HHRESELEREERERL
Director on a case-by-case basis. HE o
iv. Quality control: starting from procurement stage in iv. mBEEETE AIERRAMEER K
selection of furniture suppliers and product offering: E ML EAY IR BB R EL 5S¢
e For “Ulfenbo” / "Slumberland” products and o BTEYLE . THIMERE .
products for special projects, suppliers and ERkIREEEERMS
manufacturers are required to produce evidence #t Eﬁ&i%ﬁ/ﬁ%ﬂi{/\ a
of compliance such as test reports, raw material HER PR ERE - R
suppliers’ certificates and documents on electrical M#—Hﬁ%&% HEFIMH
parts. e

e Before placing purchase orders with any new o MEMHMEMEERTE
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will KETER KEEEST
assess their workmanship and product quality as HERURERcTIE . ER
well as their reputation in the industry. BERENTRANESE -
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For products of new design which are usually first
released in the international furniture exhibitions
and fairs, the procurement team will inspect the
products for workmanship and safety or quality
issue. Regular meetings are held between the
procurement team and the inspection and repair
team to exchange, discuss and resolve any
quality issue with the products. We also engage
independent third parties from time to time to
inspect manufactured products.

For custom-made furniture, the project team
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the factory
of our outsourced manufacturers by checking of
random samples of the finished products on
workmanship and other specifications such as
size, labelling and packaging to verify that the
finished lots conform to such specifications
before delivery.

When the cargos of our products are shipped to
Hong Kong, the logistics team will check the
quantity, shipping mark and package condition of
the products upon their delivery to our warehouse.
If the Company discovers there is any damage to
the container, our logistics team will inform the
insurance broker and see if surveyors need to
attend the devanning of the container. When
devanning, the logistics team will examine the
package condition to look for defect. For products
of new model or from new supplier, our
procurement and sales team will perform checking
when the goods arrive at the store for display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction with
the inspection and repair team would make a
decision as to whether or not to inspect other
pieces of the same product model from the same
shipment to see if similar manufacturing defect
occurs in the same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects are
found and our sales director will decide whether
to proceed with insurance claim and / or liaise
with the relevant supplier for negotiation of
appropriate remedy.
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Viil.

aE

Retail sales and wholesale sales: Discount policy
and credit policy are in place. All discounts offered
must be pre-approved by management. No credit is
given to retail customers. Goods refund must be
approved by management. Consignment of Ulfenbo /
Slumberland products to dealers must be approved
by General Manager.

Management information system and technology:

e To control over the business activities, it allows
close tracking of various inputs and outputs of the
Group’s business such as inventory, products,
customer information system and human resources.
It also tracks audit trails in the authorization system
under which permissions and responsibility of
authorization are clearly identified and adequate
records can be maintained in the Risk Control
Systems.

e The transparent information flow alerts the
management promptly of any deviations.
Benchmarking with historical database and
comparisons with the same also act as a detecting
device for spotting unusual activities.

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and analysis
of each segment are conducted on regular basis such
that the performance of each point of sales and each
product category can be easily accessible.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies are maintained including general
accident insurance on the asset in office, warehouse,
retail stores against robbery, burglary, fire and flooding.
Insurance for unexpected operational risks and marine
insurance for cargo shipment from suppliers or
manufacturers which are not on CIF terms are also
maintained. Stocktake is conducted at least once a
year and cycle counts may be prescribed by operation
head. Daily cash count at retail shops and reconciliation
is conducted.

3. Financial Controls

proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

Vi.

Vii.

viil.
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viii.

annual budget and quarterly forecast on all capital
and revenue items are prepared and approved by the
management before being adopted;

the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets / forecast;

regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’ ageing
and debtors’ ageing, stock ageing and internal financial
reports are prepared to the management which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group's financial performance;

monthly updates on internal consolidated financial
statements are provided to management and all
Directors which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, financial
position, liquidity and prospects in sufficient details;

bank reconciliation is performed on monthly basis to
identify unrecorded bank transactions;

annual audit by independent auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting
policies and the applicable laws and regulations; and

daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor the
cash flows against budgets / forecast.

4. Compliance Controls

Systems and procedures on disclosure of inside
information to ensure, with the assistance of an
internal work team (if required), that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any one
or more officers should be promptly identified,
assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for the
attention of the Board. The Board shall make timely
decisions on disclosure, if necessary, and take
appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality of
inside information until proper dissemination of inside
information;
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Policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements which shall be reviewed and
monitored regularly by the CG Committee as delegated
by the Board in order to ensure that the Group is in
compliance with all the applicable laws, statues, rules
and regulations and keep up on any legal developments;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to monitor,
control and regularly review connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions of the Group
and ensure proper compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide
reporting channels and guidance for employees and
related third parties who have business dealings with
the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns and anonymity, in confidence, about any
suspected misconduct or malpractice within the
Group. The Audit Committee, delegated by the Board,
shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for
fair and independent investigation of any concerns
raised, appropriate follow-up actions are taken and
other recommendations are provided, if thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to outline the
Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and
corruption and assists employees in recognizing
circumstances that may lead to or give the
appearance of being involved in corruption or
unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such
conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly
seek guidance where necessary or report any
reasonably suspected case of corruption or any
attempts thereof, to the management through an
appropriate reporting channel; and

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedures is established to set
out the general framework for combating crime against
money laundering and financing of terrorism. It
provides guideline to prevent the Group’s employees
and clients / customers / suppliers / vendors /
contractors from being misused for money laundering,
terrorist financing or other financial crime and has set
out some indications of potentially suspicious
transactions / activities for employees’ reference.
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Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal Audit
Department regularly. Internal audit reviews and agreed action
plans should be reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on
timely basis.

C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process

The management regularly reviews overall risks facing by
the Group and changes in market environment. The risk
management process includes risk identification,
evaluation, management and control measures.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks are
evaluated by the Board and management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risks on the Group’s financial
results; and (ii) the probability and frequency that the risks
will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage
the risks as follows:

e Risk elimination — the management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.

e Risk mitigation — the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood
and impact of the risk to an acceptable level or
contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.

e Risk control and monitoring - it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable and
how to address those that are not; accidents and
other situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as part of the
effort to manage risks.

e Risk retention — the management may decide that the
risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable level
and no action is required and the risk will continue to be
monitored as part of the risk management program to
ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
Annual Report 2023/2024 &%

A AR EE X AR P E BRI S A BB B I Y B R -
REBE R LB E AT BB ERRE
BREEGNEEEER-

C. RpEEIE
(1) EBEEEEF
EREBEHENAERmGER

BERBHA - T ETRRERR
s

EEEEZRNEASELRENGEE
MR 2T A B BERE
BIEEIMAES  BEXEFEER
e EFGLEBERBRE()ARHEAR
SR BFEER T ECREN
RhERBEZBREREAER HAE
B EATRIAS

BB AARFZUATIER
EEERE

. ERER-SRETHIREE
EFHBREL UE2HGE
B o

o RERBEKF - EEETEE
BRAEMERTE BEEERARZ ATEE
MERFEREEAEIKFT X
MEEERBRGIEEESTRE-

o  EBRESERESE 8 N A N
JR\ g K 2 {R] I S AR AT e 0 JEL B £ F
HRE  MEREERRZ—EB
2 P RERIRR SRR
REPREMBERAETAEL

o  HFEIKF -EEETREE
TR L e = A JB8 T 4 T Je e B8 P 3%
S RARBUEAE UK
ERAREETN—ED &
HEERARLRERRERAS L
FFERAERKF -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERWRS
(2) Significant Risks and Strategies (2) EXREERREE

AEBECEBRRHA LT EEFH
BIETERER - AEBEFTHEHKRAZ
SERBRUNEERE EEZER,

Certain significant risks have been identified through the
process of risk identification and assessment. Such
significant risks of the Group and their respective key

strategies / control measures are set out below: ZEIEEE AT

i.  Decline in consumption demand resulted from downturn in i ABETT MANTHSEREFLIR
economic, keen market competition and price war among HFZEEEBEIHEST K
the rivals T

EH RIS AKE - —

Facing the unfavorable market situation, the Group:—

Proactively manages the Group’s geographical

T8 2 A A ) D 3 0 9

presences and develops alternative sales HILHREOEELEYE
channel including online shopping; AR EBHEERE
Optimizes business operations and shop o BEBEENEHRE

establishments;

Takes stringent cost control measures including
human resources streamline plan, rental
concession / reduction negotiation with landlord,
consolidation and close loss-making showrooms;

Closely monitors inventory level;

Offers more promotion discount to boost sales;
and

Introduces new products and improves synergy
to gain new market segment and channels.

RIS R A E G
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HE S &
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KRBT BT

ii.  Reliance on Hong Kong market ii.

ROBHIZRER  AEEREE
OB ARUIBIRS -

To diversify the market exposure, the Group explores
online option with no territorial limitation.
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iii. ~ Shop location and rental expenses iii. EENERMESEY

[EEE SRR RARENERK
FAABER S © IE SRS BEAK
AR EAEENAENE

Shop rental is always the key cost component of the
Group. The significant fluctuation of shop rents may
affect the Group’s profitability. The Company seeks to

50

developers, keep abreast of rental of premises in
the vicinity to cater for showroom replacement, if
required.

Explore other locations with good potential at
reasonable level. Traffic and relative position to
competitors nearby are also evaluated.

Perform profitability forecast to determine
financial viability.

Closely monitor individual shop performance and
profitability to determine their renewal options.

Set up pop up stores at low rent to learn more
about the foot traffic and spending power of the
location before setting up a long-term showroom.

Critically review and consolidate its POS and
roadshows to take into account the impact of
decline in consumption.

Negotiate with landlords for rental reduction and
seek to introduce break clause in the tenancy
agreements to provide flexibility in case of further
downturn in business.

Reorganize and optimize the use of warehouse
space to reduce warehouse rental.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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A

Product selection

Product selection is the area where the Group should
focus on in order to make sure that we stay ahead of
the competition:

e The Group maintains a high quality purchasing
team with good market trend knowledge.

e Regular sales meeting to review the sales trend
and market response to products.

e  Visit suppliers and furniture fairs after Hong Kong
gradually resumes to normal.

e  (Collect customer feedback on product improvements.

Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover decreases the
cash conversion cycle. An effective inventories
turnover management is in place:-

e Regular review on inventory ageing position and
compare with sales forecast and market trend.

e Maintain close business relationship and
communication with manufacturers to strive for
optimal and timely supply.

e Hold bargain sale for long aged items.

e Select suppliers that have no minimum order
quantity.

Fraudsters seized the opportunity to generate deepfakes
with deep learning Al models and use them for ID fraud
and other kinds of scams

e Take extra precautions and double confirm before
following instructions and make payments.

e Stay informed and educate staff on the latest
cyber threats and fraud.
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vii. Cyber security risk

The Company’s IT infrastructure is regularly
scanned and patched.

Risky external UP addresses are blocked.
Emails are filtered for spam and malware and
training about dangerous email attachments are

provided.

Install specialized ransomware / virus detection
software in all computers.

Access rights to the Group’s systems are strictly
controlled and regularly reviewed.

Regular backups of data for recovery.

Keep software up to date.

viii. Unethical behaviour of the Board and employees

Strengthen supervision, management accountability
and financial control.

Improve Risk Control Systems.
Evaluate and enhance internal audit functions.

Maintain effective whistleblowing policy and
procedures as well as employee handbook.

Promote culture of integrity.

Maintain policy and procedures on disclosure of
interest before transaction.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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ix. Container shortages and disruption to marine transport
leading to longer transit time, delayed shipment and
soaring freight

During the Year, European shipment need to be rerouted
via Cape of Good Hope due to attacks and hijacks at the
Suez Canal, the following measures were taken by the
Group:

e instructs sales team to add a longer buffer for
stock arrival;

e purchase team to take into account the possible
delay in ordering goods; and

e considers to transfer part of the rising cost to
customers, if possible.

X.  Labor market in Hong Kong remains tight

e  Encourage employee referral.

e Regularly review employee package and benefits
to retain staff and attract new join.

° Keep monitor Government measures to supplement
the local workforce.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Risk Control
Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and the
Board, upon reviewing the Risk Control Systems, were not aware
of any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on
the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s operational,
financial and compliance areas of the Risk Control Systems.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of dividend
to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company intends to
provide Shareholders with regular interim and final dividends (as the
case may be) based on the earnings attributable to its Shareholders
after taking into consideration of the factors as stated in the policy,
including inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements for business
operations; (ii) cash available, financial liabilities and capital
commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; and (iv) future
development and investment opportunities. The declaration of
dividends or recommendation on such payment shall be subject to all
applicable laws, rules and regulations including but not limited to the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“CO”) and the Articles.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s Shareholders’” Communication Policy (available on the
website of the Company) sets out the strategies, practices and
commitment for maintaining ongoing and effective communication with
Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and in appropriate
circumstances, the investment community at large so as to enable them
to engage with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders
in an informed manner. To this end, the Company strives to ensure that
all Shareholders have ready and timely access to all publicly available
information of the Group. To facilitate communication with Shareholders
and the investment community, the Company has established various
communication channels, as follows: (i) the holding of AGMs and
extraordinary general meetings, if any, which may be convened for
specific purposes to provide opportunities to the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Board; (ii) the publication of
announcements, annual reports, interim reports and / or circulars as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated
information of the Group; (iii) the availability of latest information of the
Group on the Company’s website at https://www.UlfertsIntl.com; (iv) the
holding of press conference(s) from time to time; and (v) meeting with
investors and analysts when necessary.

Regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and general
presentations are made when financial results are announced.
Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s
website and to raise enquiries through our Investor Relations
Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website and the “Corporate Information and Key Dates” section of
this annual report.
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The Chairman of the Board and the chairman / members of the
Board Committees, appropriate management executives and the
independent auditor are available to attend the general meetings to
answer questions from the Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. Having
considered the multiple channels of communication and engagement in
place, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy has been properly in place during the Year and remains effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code:

Right to convene / Call general meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings may
send a request to the Company pursuant to Section 566 of the CO.
The request must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting, and may include the text of resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting. Requests may consist of several documents in like form. A
request may be sent to the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form and
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s). Having
verified request, the Board will convene a general meeting within 21
days. Such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days
after the date of the notice convening the meeting and such notice
must include notice of the resolution.
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Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not within 21
days as stated above to call a general meeting, the Shareholders
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves call a general meeting, but the meeting so
convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after
the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.
The meeting must be called in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which that meeting is required to be called by
the Directors. The business that may be dealt with at the meeting
includes a resolution to be dealt with at the meeting. All reasonable
expenses incurred by the Shareholders of this purpose shall be
reimbursed by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at AGMs

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) Shareholder(s) representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders; or (ii) at
least 50 Shareholders having a right to vote on the resolution at the
AGM may request the Company to circulate a notice of a resolution
to be properly moved or is intended to be moved at that meeting.
Such request must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM,
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and sent to
the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary in hard
copy form or in electronic form not later than 6 weeks before the
relevant AGM or if later, the time when the notice of AGM is
despatched.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the Company’s
website.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s share registrar, Union Registrars Limited. Other
Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

For the purpose of (i) providing flexibility to the Company in relation
to the holding of general meeting as a fully virtual meeting in
addition to a physical meeting or a hybrid meeting; and (ii) making
other corresponding and house-keeping amendments, the Company
adopted a new articles of association (“New Articles”) during the
Year. The adoption of the New Articles was approved by the
Shareholders at the 2023 AGM. The New Articles is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members of
the Audit Committee were of the view that Messrs. Ernst & Young
(“EY”) is independent and had recommended the Board to propose
its re-appointment as the Company’s independent auditor at the
2024 AGM. During the Year, EY had rendered audit services and
certain non-audit services to the Group. The non-audit services
included: (i) agreed-upon procedures for continuing connected
transactions; and (ii) review of preliminary results announcement.
The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by
EY for the Year amounted approximately to HK$710,000 and
HK$18,000, respectively.
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EY::

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ulferts
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 65 to 135, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE S MR

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

RS EEtEIR

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HMR TN ERIZRAREFH

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$41,127,000 as at 31 March 2024.
The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to their net realisable value is required. In
estimating the net realisable value of inventories, the
Group considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and
condition of inventories, current market condition and
other relevant factors.

E5EN2024F 3831 BB REER 41,127,000 % 7T

We evaluated management’'s assessment of whether
the Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Qur procedures included
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in determining the net realisable
value of inventories and the write-down of inventories
required, with reference to, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, historical and
subsequent sales information, and current market
condition.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RSt EEtEIR

The determination of the net realisable value of
inventories requires management to make significant
assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amount of inventories and related disclosures.
BERECAERFEFTEERBFHBENRR LG
HARERE cRRESBRIBBEEE -

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.
HNEBEARcSEER BERAFTEECAEEFES
ERBERG AR AE MR ERNREESE

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

HEREENEN A BEWMARNEI L 14 -

Key audit matter

RAEEEI SR

RAREETEIE (%)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KM TN ERIZRARETF R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KBTI RIEAR BB R

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

YE BERZRELUREAEEEZREE

The Group’s management performed impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets as they considered that there
were indicators of impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 March
2024 due to loss recorded by the Group for the year.
The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were estimated
based on value-in-use calculations.
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We evaluated the Group’s policy and procedures
in identifying impairment indicators and assessed
management’s significant assumptions used in
the value-in-use calculations by (i) comparing the
budgeted turnover with historical results; and (ii)
assessing the sensitivity of management’s estimates
and assumptions used in evaluating whether
a reasonably possible change in assumptions
could cause the carrying amounts to exceed their
recoverable amounts.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RAEEEI SR

During the year, the Group recorded impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of HK$442,000 and HK$4,775,000, respectively, to
reduce the carrying amounts of these assets to the
recoverable amounts.

RASREETEIE (%)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

KPR FEH IR IRRAR EEt EIR

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of financial
statement disclosures relating to impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
eoh BT LT BRRES A WBEYDE - BB NRE
DIRERBEEZRE -

FR ESEEZEYE - BENEURERREERE
Bl 5 442 00074 7T M2 4,775,000 7T » LI ZEEEN
IRMEERA E ARS8 -

Significant judgements and estimates were involved
in the assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
FHEE S BERRBUNEREEE AT SEY &
BRIV R AEET

The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 12
and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

HEMEENSEN G BHREMEE3 12X 13 -

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

HNFERETHEMER

ENREFAHAMEEAE  AibEEEE
HENEEREANES - EFNEREEEME

WA L BPIR B
BMABEHEAYBREANBERALNRZEHME

B BT AEZZE
EEIR AL o

HifE 8B REMTIM

e é?ﬂd?ﬁ#%éﬁﬁ%ﬁi%ﬁ’\]%?r' BMNEE
EREHMES  FHBED ERHEMES
%EE’E@Aﬁ?ﬁ%#ﬁi‘%%&ﬁf%‘fkhqﬂFﬁﬁ’é‘
BINBERFEERBEENEUFEEERER
1B - ENBMERITHIE  MRBIRB
REMESFEERER  BMAFTEREXSE
B AENE BIRBEMRE -

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEFEERA R

Annual Report 2023/2024 %

61



62

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CE MV SR

Responsibhilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the MBI TR S M BHRRAED
consolidated financial statements (continued) s5E @)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 1EIRIK (HABFTER) HEITHTHVBES &
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism IERT HEHE RFTEXEREE - &
throughout the audit. We also: 978

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBnkEth2EaR

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z 2024438318 IHFEE

2024 2023

Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

BfEE TET FET
REVENUE WA 5 171,638 216,148
Cost of sales $4ERA (71,979) (82,964)
Gross profit X 99,659 133,184
Other income and gains E MBI A & Uzt 5 4,271 6,749
Selling and distribution expenses $5%& K2 #5552 (96,945) (119,145)
General and administrative expenses —f% AT (23,680) (23,968)
Other expenses E 55 (5,217) (15,591)
Finance costs 8175 B4 6 (2,717) (2,527)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BR#iLBIE1E 7 (24,629) (21,298)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fri8Riike, (BAsZ) 10 (377) 281
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL (25,006) (21,017)

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR
FABERFAREERRER

Attributable to: FE{L :
Owners of the parent A T#HEE A (25,006) (21,017)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
BRAREBRERES ARGERER

Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents per share) (3.13) (2.63)
EARREE (GRLUBLAENL)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MAFEARER

31 March 2024 20244E3831H

2024 2023

Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
P EE FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE

Property, plant and equipment #J2£ « /= M=% 12 3,052 3,288
Right-of-use assets S E 13 27,460 49,794
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 16 4,125 9,788
FANRIE ~ Re R EMBKGIE

Deferred tax assets IEEFIEE E 20 4,836 5,182
Total non-current assets FJERENE EEE 39,473 68,052

CURRENT ASSETS & E

Inventories & 14 41,127 43,639
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE 15 3,901 3,085
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 16 17,324 19,461
FANRIE e REMBKGIR

Cash and cash equivalents & KIFESEY) 43,358 62,059
Total current assets By & ELEE 105,710 128,244

CURRENT LIABILITIES 7iEh&a &

Trade and bills payables & 5 E{IEIE K ER Z i 17 2,285 5,199
Other payables and accruals EftfER FIE K fERTE A 18 27,650 24,020
Lease liabilities THE&E 13 28,300 36,777
Provisions #f& 19 5,663 3,741
Tax payable FE{IHIIE 1,090 206
Total current liabilities T2 & &A% 64,988 69,943
NET CURRENT ASSETS B & &% (E 40,722 58,301
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 80,195 126,353
BEEBRRBDEE

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREI& &

Lease liabilities THE&E 13 10,889 30,115
Provisions #f& 19 4,595 6,521
Total non-current liabilities IEFREN & (E42%E 15,484 36,636
Net assets E&EFE 64,711 89,717
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR e AR

31 March 2024 20244E3831H

2024 2023

Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B EE FET FET

EQUITY #E2
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B4 B #HE A FE(L1E2SE

Share capital g4 21 110,337 110,337
Accumulated losses Z:tE518 (45,626) (20,620)
Total equity #E542%8 64,711 89,717
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander Chan Chuen Yin
1HEEE FREE
Director Director
=2 £
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
R e ER SR

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z 2024538318 IEFEE

Retained
profits/
(accumulated
Share losses) Total
capital REBEF equity
[N (REtEE) L ag ke
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TFET TFET
At 1 April 2022 722022 48 1H 110,337 4,397 114,734
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (21,017) (21,017)
FRBENEEEIRERE
Final 2022 dividend declared =K 2022 K # & & - (4,000) (4,000)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 110,337 (20,620) 89,717
20234 3H 31H K 2023444 1H
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (25,006) (25,006)
FABBNEEEBERAE
At 31 March 2024 22024438 31H 110,337 (45,626) 64,711
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReHERE

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z 2024438318 IHFEE

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FAET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EBIRESTTE

Loss before tax BRELEIEE (24,629) (21,298)
Adjustments for: LT R IEFTERE
Finance costs B8 EA 6 2,717 2527
Interest income F B 5 (1,701) (1,245)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 2,435 5,909
M~ BB RERBITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {F#EEEZITE 7 31,500 42,511
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 7 - (15)
HEYZE - BRENRBIEE W
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 7 63 (6)
B S EWEIERE (BERE)  F58
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 7 442 2,255
W~ BB Nkl BiE
Impairment of right-of-use assets BB E &E 2 FE 7 4,775 13,336
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 7 747 1,545
WoREEE 2R FE
16,349 45,519
Decrease in inventories fZ &4 1,765 12,649
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & S REUEIERA /(H#H0) (879) 446
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and 7,577 (4,482)

other receivables
TEFRIE ~ e R EMEREIERA(3E0)

Decrease in trade and bills payables & 2 FE{Y 5k I8 M & Zi55 2 (2,914) (5,203)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 3,630 (14,993)
HeithEN e R ETE RGN O )

Decrease in provisions #{#i52> (4) (576)
Cash generated from operations & HBIFTEIRSE 25,524 33,360
Interest received EWFIE 1,701 1,245
Hong Kong profits tax refunded REFHE SR 853 1,326
Net cash flows from operating activities K& EEFFEHR ST E T 28,078 35,931
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meRERE

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z 2024538318 IEFEE

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFET TFET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES & E&EEBRSNE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (2,641) (801)
BEVZE - RENRBIEER
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment - 15
HEYE - BB NRBIEBTERIE
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,641) (786)
KREZDARSNEFE
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES Rt & EENIIRSRE
Principal portion of lease payments & 5o AL ED (41,421) (43,363)
Interest portion of lease payments f &{J 52 K S22 (2,717) (2,527)
Dividend paid Ef¥#& S S (4,000)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BRI & EEIFTRIR S M 8248 (44,138) (49,890)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (18,701) (14,745)
RENRSEBYRFE
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 62,059 76,804
FNRENIBEEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 43,358 62,059
FRRENRESEEY
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RE LIRS EBMERON
Cash and bank balances IR NER1T#AS R 43,358 62,059
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Units 1905-07, 19th Floor,
Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture
e wholesale of imported furniture
e  project sales (“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is Ulferts
International Group Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors, Albert Yeung Investments
Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”) (incorporated in
the BVI) is the ultimate holding company of the Company which
is in turn held by First Trust Management AG acting as the
trustee of Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary Trust, a
private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing,
Albert (“Dr. Yeung”).

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, all
companies directly or indirectly controlled by respective private
discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Yeung other than the Group
are collectively referred to as the “Emperor Group”.

NEIREEER
LB RAR ("TAAT ) REBTE
M ABREEAR - AT FMRE
BRHB UL TN B BB T T EFF B 288 R 2
EE R 1942 1905-07 F ©

AANB KM E2018FE 120 HEERH
BMERXZABERAT (THEF,) ERE
T-Eo

RRBRREZKAT - FR > REEM
BARMEELUTERER -

o EOBRMTE
o EDEMILE
o EHEE(TIREBR.D

RPN EEZERATD RN RBRELES
MBI EEZERERAT

E5R e NARBRIASEMKIING
XABREERERAR ("HBXHEFEEE
B 1) RANBNRARIER AT - BREE
BB First Trust Management AGYEA
Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary
Trustz ZFEARB  ZEARBIREL
(M5Bt ) R RARIBERE

AZEGEMBREMS IAEXBELT
Frstiz & BRI AR IS5 st B s ATl
MEZAEEZH cATDHRBR T RE
EE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HAFERaRbIEE

31 March 2024 B ZF2024F 38310 1LFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REIREEEFR (&)

Information about subsidiaries BRMBATZEH
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AKABEEWBARZFHEBUNT -
follows:

Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation ordinary equity attributable Principal
and business share capital to the Company activities

MR EEE ERTEERES ALREGEIE AL FTEXER

Direct Indirect

B %
Ulferts International British Virgin US$1 100 — Investment holding
Investment Limited Islands ES WEZK

BB IR ERRAT KBRS

Ulferts of Sweden Hong Kong HK$350,000 - 100 Retail and wholesale
(Far East) Limited 58 350,000787C of imported
WHEaER L (JER) furniture, and
BRAF special projects
EORMTEHEBBR
TEIEH
Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Liaising with project
(Macau) Limited P 25,00038F9 7T customers in Macau
WuaER b (CEPT) B REPIEE R
BRAR
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of group
EEZHRAT B 1,000,000 7T tenancy agent
services
REEERERE
R 75
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EERR LXRMICAKATHRBARTS
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for FEREFEXENBRAEEEEFE
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BERHDHNBLAR - EERA 2HE
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the B AR FIEEERRBENTTR -
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RATEERIRMMIEE

31 March 2024 #{Z 2024438315 ILEFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EETBUR
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 AL

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention. These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

HEREVBRREREEBIE
MAg ("TEBEFTMAE ) FREM
ZEBYBEREER ("EBWBR
EER ) (BEMEEBUERE
R BHEGFER(TEB SR
Al ) k) LIREBRTERG T LU
e o IRE U IEHRERTIIEE LA
RE o LB B FRHILUET (T
JTy) B3 MBRBEHBEEN 2
HMEEHRAERESEATT(TH
JCa)e

EHEE

REMBEREE/RAATRENBEA
A(METAERE,) REE202445F
SABVHLEFEEHHEREK - KBA
AR/RANAREENBEEE < —EE
B(EREEBMER) HWAKEE
SRR E T EHE M ZHE R
BREEN CHZRR - BHEHTT
EERRESENZETEO® A
AEEHEE%BRECEGRE (BRE
Y ARERESHIRENHEES
TR ) -

—®ERT B—EEE &K
SR ARIEFIE - (HAARHRZH
BRETREEIE LR ER B ¥
2 BIFTEARAHERETRE
BN AEEeERMERBERE
RiER B

(a) BEZFEREDHEMEREFEA
BN

(b) MEMENRIFRELZEAR
N4

(c) AEERZERNMEBEERTRE-

MBAR Y BERKRZARAM
RMERE— B S BRRER - W
BARZFET B AEE RS ZEHE
ZBETLUGH  WHENASHE
F BEEABREFI KL -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed
the material accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement technigues and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12
so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon
initial application.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 20244 3831H ILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

2.2 SR BRRIKFE 2 EE) ()

(d) Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - (d) BBLFTERE 125 2BITA

Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development. The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help
users of the financial statements better understand the
entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two
income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two
legislation is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure to
Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but not
yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the
scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments
did not have any impact to the Group.

B BB K — ST A
AIBINT BB 1F3RAB
ANE _XERERAUELZ
IRIE R IR e SR B 4 BBz Sl 14
MR BISME ST © % FERT ARG
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REMEREEBREMEBRAX
R HRARNENK A S
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SHEZTREANNEE WxF
BRI A AEEWEEATE -

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.3 SHEMERREN T EMER
REPORTING STANDARDS =il

REBIKRZFH HFHRERPERALL
TERMEBRRERZKETERM
BIWEER - ARBERNZFLET
RV R EER (MNBER ) £

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become

76

effective.

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to

HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)"

Non-current liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) ' 4

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 2024438315 ILEFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.3 ERHBEBRENZEEUHE

REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording
with no change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are currently
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the
seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or
loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1
April 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 20244 3831H ILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.3 EHEMEMKRENZEEMBER

78

REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

2.3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETBUR (#8)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) FFEMEERE (/&)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting NEREARETERSERRER
period as to whether there is an indication that previously ZAIEERZBEBERNEFEIR
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may Do MHRZFNR  BIAIWE SRR
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the gTYLUhET - EERLEBEEEZH
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised W Bl 202 (b 5T IR B BET - SoRIRE
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed ReBEEREEBE (BERMN 7S
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to B[O AR N E T
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to BERIBBEBEMETE 2REE (K]
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would FRAEAIATEE ) - B 2 BB E BN P
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no E4E BB ABREK -

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties BB

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: DI AT TG B8 R B A S
EHEE

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (a) HARUTATHHBBEMZAL

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) #ZHIEREZEHAER ;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEBERTLE K
(iiy is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AREENAEHZT AT
the Group or of a parent of the Group; LEEEEENKE ;
or =
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) ZATRFETIEMEHEZE
conditions applies: 2
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the () ZEBRAEBRARER—
same group; EECHEAT
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) ZEEBRZ BB (HE—
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow BRCEAF WBAR
subsidiary of the other entity); RANBAR ) <BE AT
REERE
(ii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBEAEBR AR —F
same third party; =T EERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETEUR (#)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETBUR (#8)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued) ME- - BMERRBLHEITE (/&)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to MEDNZREME - BRERRBEE 2
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and et A R LI B AR A B A
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful ZERREBE REFAERCEEZEEX
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are e
as follows:
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms %Eif%ﬁ 1B HEHA
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  20% — 33'/3% B~ REREMHE  20% - 33':%
Motor vehicles 20% AE 20%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment HY%E~ BENMZBEESL DA
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated A B A AE R - *?IEE%?-‘I?%Z
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is BRABZEEERESHS 2B
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and e - &2 K 1E(E B ?ﬁ¥ FIERE
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if B AIERAFRRITEREELRE
appropriate, at least at each financial year end. FBEEFEAH TR HEES

FLT INRAGAEE o

An item of property, plant and equipment including any ME- BRERZEEE  BiEERE
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon WZEHE%*‘BQEAEHﬂEYﬁHqﬁﬁ
disposal or when no future economic benefits are {35 A E AR A A R AR F) 32 iy
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on KUIEER  REREEFEEERT
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the BB EREENRERE JHEEH
year the asset is recognised and is the difference between BECHEMBIIBFHAERABS
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the =R

relevant asset.

Leases f#HE

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a AKEBREHNRRRFIEEORER
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, HBEESHEE - MENRRERNKEMS
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use %E-E&LHEFF?W?“%U aﬁ%%ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for R AIZENBNRESHEE

consideration.

Group as a lessee AREEFFEREBA

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement AEEHMEHE (EEPHEENE
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and BEEEEHESRN) ENE—ERK
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease FFERE AEBERABEESELE
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets HHEENK MEREEERERE
representing the right to use the underlying assets. BB EMRER) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAFEERaRbIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 2024438315 ILEFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
oCCurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 20244 3831H ILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

(c)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETEUR (#)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and
presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. The finance costs of such leases
are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 20244 3831H ILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEIBUR (&)

1)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETEUR (#)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised
cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETBUR (#8)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued) FEILTESR B E (18)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash HAEECEERANNMEERFRS
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through MEBZER  NEsTx SR 8
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has SHHERAREZEEEEREZ
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. Rl REHRILRECEE - HARE
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially B RERENMRBZEEECER
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred o E ks e TREEZIEEE
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the ZIEHRE AREERELHESE
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing BEARHEEE THBER T &
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an SETHEREEAE - WEEEER
associated liability. The transferred asset and the HEaERRMAEEMREEMNR
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects B EETE -

the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee MEBMWEREESEREERZAN
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the FESHEMS FRREBEEERE
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum ERROEEAEFEAGEAIN R
amount of consideration that the Group could be required ERESBCRERTE-

to repay.

Impairment of financial assets THEERE

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit AEBFAANIEREBERIEAT
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair BERFEEH T EEREBHEESE
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the (TTEEEEBE.)) BE - BHEE
difference between the contractual cash flows due in BEZRBRESNIBZEHNESM
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that SHAEBREHKECERESME
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an (RFRBBEANE QO ) 2B
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The EZH- AR RERBEREBN
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale EREFRERTNcEFEERAK
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are HittinREERFFTRZBEMNE

integral to the contractual terms.

General approach — %

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures TREAE B R 180 M (EFE ERHERR - |
for which there has not been a significant increase in BB XERLUIRE &R 5 AR
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for e EEREAENS  BHEERS
credit losses that result from default events that are BISBARAREKI2EA AR ERE
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For ZENEHMELAGEEHEMRE
those credit exposures for which there has been a BI2EBEBEESE) - WNE
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a HAERLIREE R B E KRG N
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over ZEEREAEMS  RIERERR
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the R AECR TN FERANEECEER
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). EBERBERE  MARENZEE

(2HTEHEEBE) -

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE

88 Annual Report 2023/2024 3k




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETEUR (#)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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—R% (i)
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TERBREBHEEL BN RERE
SRTENERERAMEELZE
WERLE  WERBERANHAL
EXRAXB A TARZAELERE
NER BEBELFIEMLER &
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B AEERERAREEM -

EANNRAH0E AEEES
BEMEEEEN - A EXRLE
nT - BEREIINERBERAE
BAKRAIGENEBAKREMFREZE
IR EERFI2BUEIRZAE
WEER AEBTAIESREER
BEXN - BEEESNEHTKEISHK
Rengr EMEemEE-

DI SER AT B &R EERRE—
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R 57752 E 2 BURIARRS) -
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEIBUR (&)
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETBUR (#8)
Derecognition of financial liabilities FELTER ETHEE
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation SRBENZAEEE TN CEEMER
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. BREE S E M B AL L FERR -
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another HEEEHmaERs —BRER—E
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or AALUEFEAN Rz 2B ERTE
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, £ HIBEEEEZBERERBEE
such an exchange or modification is treated as a ZETMBET UL LERREER
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a mRFaEEE HERAEECH
new liability, and the difference between the respective ERNIEE AR -

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments HEEMT A

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the HIRR B AT &R EEC®E
net amount is reported in the statement of financial Rt WHEDUFREEETHEE
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to HENSHEESRNEEAE  HA
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to HemMEERTRE GRS  MFER
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the R HEIRRKRER -

liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories 5

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net FELMURAEATEEFIEME 2K
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted BEENER - AR IR NI EERE
average basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated E o AIBRFEDREGFTEERE
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred in TR EHSBRES (G AT
the process of disposal. e

Cash and cash equivalents HERFALTFEY

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement BREMBRAERNEE LIRSS EY
of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, BEFEREMIRITER MUIKLHR
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of —MIE=E R AR R SRR E A
generally within three months that are readily convertible SHRRSMNEHSRBEEHR BHE
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk EEFRRAER WinEEHHR
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting SEEMRESE -

short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash BEARENERMS B MRS
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand SFEVMERFALMITRESUR EX
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, REMRIENR BAZRERERL
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and BRAEBRRSEE —HOMRITE
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. o
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETBUR (#8)

92

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating
lease has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end
of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the value
of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the end of
the reporting period using estimated cash flows and an
equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated over the
term of the operating lease. The estimated future costs of
reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAFEERaRbIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 2024438315 ILEFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

2.4 EXEETBUR ()
BEm (1)

FTBERNE RIEE5 HREDRR
EREBRRE - TSR -

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial e REERUIFEHEHRZZE
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a EXNBENLTERAMES B
transaction that is not a business combination and, at NRGRLAZES TR L IE

the time of the transaction, affects neither the R RIS E A - MR EAE
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does L ERB RIS RELR
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible M

temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary

RRNEBRRZREMEEZIE
AT EREMS  BRtE
REBEIRR ARG mE T
AN RASRATGEA S B -

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

AT AT HRVE B 1 22 B S R B IR
BRlEMARBARBERZGE
PRERBIELERIAEE - (HERK
A A RS A HUR B R I 2 4R
PR AREARIER R KRBT REE
EEATEHA AETHEEESD
FLIRER - TS bR -

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

(K175 B8 P+ B G B 1 22 R 2 IR AT
MEEERBIRER —ER
2 (EXRBEH) AeEERE
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEIBUR (&)
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Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEETEUR (#)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

e  Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods.

Other income

Other service income is recognised over time, using an
output method to measure the Group’s progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant services.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEIBUR (&)
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income (continued)

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. This scheme has been granted
exemption under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. When an employee leaves the scheme
before his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs associated
with certain leased properties under operating leases
attributable to the Group based on the estimates of the
expected costs to be incurred to settle the relevant contractual
obligations under the terms of the leases at the end of the
reporting period, which are subject to uncertainties and might
differ from the actual costs to be incurred. Significant
judgements and estimates are required, including, inter alia,
making various assumptions with reference to past experience
and available information to determine the expected costs to
be incurred. Further details are included in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of inventories
to net reliable value is required. In estimating the net realisable
value of inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, current market condition
and other relevant factors. Based on such assessment,
write-down of inventories will be made when the carrying
amount of inventories declines below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in market and economic
environment and customers’ preference, actual saleability of
inventories and actual selling prices that could be realised
might be different from the original estimation and profit or loss
could be affected by differences in these estimations.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

EREETFIENR &5 (@)
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REABEAFEMRETEETFE - N
A EECAEREFER AEESERE
(KR ) FEME » EiRMIRE 3]
THREEMBRAR - RIFBETE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally focuses on the retail and wholesale of imported
furniture, and special projects. Information reported to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the operating results of the
Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment information is available. Accordingly, no
operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from external
customers during the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 were attributed to Hong Kong based on the location
of the customers or the location of certain key processes/
resources from which the Group derived the revenues.

(b) Non-current assets

All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of the
reporting period were located in Hong Kong based on the
location of the assets.

Information about major customers

No revenues from transactions with a single external customer
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 amounted to 10%
or more of the total revenue of the Group.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]

Annual Report 2023/2024 S

3.

EREETHIE R (55T (@)

fHETARETE M (7F)
HE -1 EEEEHFE

AEEREFEZEEHERNMESHR
= Atk ERBEERANX(TBER
FAK)FEHEAE  BEBRAX
RASBRALICERE P /IGEEH
BEEBERIOCEE MUBLERR
RELBEBANTESEIL 2R
Rt BEBRAMERRRY RNEE B
FLMAER - BEATBEN R (R E
AUMERZZWBARME ) NERY
M ZETRAR LR RIEE 2 R RS
(EREWFELNBAR 2N E KT
M) RIZAFEHRARGES - EUERS
ABUR (NHEAX) I RE - AEEEA
RIS A\ BIR ( E8 B A 5N KA E
HETEEFENGE (WNBEARES
MEERTR) -

REDEEH
AEEFERLEORMTERERBLT
RIEB - ERDREKEFEMS [
AEEXBKERREBERCER AE
EREBGENESEKEDMER AR
e Wit WHSFKEDERER

& &EF

(a) KEIEBEFZMA
B B20244F N2023F3H31H
IEFEE REFEKREIIEBEL WA
BEPHEMSNEAEFRESKRAZ
ETEBRRRE BRZFEHB R
DREBES -

(b) FREEE

REBRNBERRZIFRBEERE
ERTRAE2MHLNEE -

BRAEREFZEH

BE 2024 F N 2023F 331 HIEFEE
BERBEE I RFRGZMAEARE
BB A 10%3 L o




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 B, ZE 202438310 1IEEE
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers &5 & &I

5. WA~ B R Uz

WA

2024

HK$’ 000
FET

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

Retail of furniture RMZE 155,146 195,018
Wholesale of furniture & {2 10,179 12,987
Special projects — project sales Ti2IEE —TEHHE 6,313 8,143
171,638 216,148

Revenue from contracts with customers EREHRA

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023

Types of goods & R IEE!

(i) #HEAEH

#H F20244F K 2023F3H831H 1b

FE

2024

HK$’ 000
FET

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

Sale of furniture $H&£ 1 171,638 216,148
Timing of revenue recognition Y A #&52AFRE
At a point in time PE—#2L 171,638 216,148

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

Revenue recognised that was included in contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
RBEPAFTF AN EEZ BB |

TRETAREHHER W EE H
SPARSERVENaEAL N BEHNERET

BRI ERER

2024

HK$’ 000
FET

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

Sale of goods $HEE R 12,261 19,955
Sale of gift vouchers 1244 & 192 697
12,453 20,652
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 #;ZF 202438 31HIHFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. YA~ EUG A RYTES ()

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) ERESHIWA (&)

(ii) Performance obligations (ii) BFIEE
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is BBRARAEEBRATE2E R B
summarised below: I
Sale of goods HEER
The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon BABEBEENERRINEER - 5t
delivery of goods. For retail sale of furniture, payment in BRSEMS  BFBRBEARAIE
advance and/or upon delivery by customers is normally RN ENR e RIS -
required. For wholesale of furniture, payment is generally NR—KREECHE30E60HR
due within 30 to 60 days from the date of billing. For project - MEEHEEMS » MR— MK
sales, payment is generally due based on terms agreed by A B 5 IR AR B 1 s P 1 E Y RSk 2
relevant parties as set out in the respective agreements. o

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FAET

Other income and gains E iU A & Uz

Other service income EAhAR#UA 1,561 1,445
Government subsidies* BT 85 * - 3,283
Bank interest income 81T & B 1,701 1,245
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment - 15
HEMZE - BB RREIE B 2 W
Others EAth 1,009 761
4,271 6,749
*  The government subsidies for the year ended 31 March * REE2023FE3A3MHIEEE
2023 mainly represented subsidies received under the AT 7 B = AR R BB AT
Employment Support Scheme and the Phasing Out Euro R BN ZE S T8 SRR B Y
IV Diesel Commercial Vehicles — Ex-gratia Payment BSOS — S EE BT
Scheme of the Government of Hong Kong Special 2N Bh o T RELRE B A B o RIE
Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled AR AEIE -

conditions or contingencies relating to the subsidies.

6. FINANCE COSTS 6. HAFEALA

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET
Interest on lease liabilities FHE & &F 2 2,717 2527
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRRBIEIR
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBRBBIBESHNR (Bf) TH&
(crediting): g

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TAET TAET

Cost of inventories sold EHERFER A 71,232 81,419

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 747 1,545

W & E AR

Total amount recognised as cost of sales 71,979 82,964
DR R ER AR R

Auditor’'s remuneration # 2t < 728 826
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 2,435 5,909
W2~ BB N T

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FHEEEZITE 13 31,500 42,511
Lease payments not included in the measurement 13(c) 3,771 4,665

of lease liabilities

Rt AHEREFECHENRK

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

REBANRAX (NEBREEFNEERTHRAESH (FEE8)):

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 37,545 39,985
TE- #d TBALLOERL
Pension scheme contributions 1,849 1,843

(defined contribution schemes)*
RN EH BB (ERRERETE) )™

39,394 41,828
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 15 63 (6)
B S BYGRIERE, (BERE)  $58
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment - (15)
HEME - BB RREIEE
Impairment of property, plant and equipment” 12 442 2,255
M~ B IR mE "
Impairment of right-of-use assets” (£ A E &2 B E " 13(a) 4,775 13,336
Foreign exchange differences, net [E X zZ= R » 3% (161) (402)
*  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the b REENEA] AEEE DURKIR G R
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of IKFE 2B WK
contributions.
»  Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of ~ o BTAGEERKEMEEKSERATH
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. fthFAsz 5 o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 #;ZF 202438 31HIHFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFEFTHASMME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the Group for RIBB TR S EHARR S BB QTG
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing 25383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ ()X (NMELIEEHAA
of Securities on the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) B (KEEEFRER ) BOIE 2EATIRE
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of RNERNAEFREZLTETHRAEMNS U
the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about I

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Fees #1& 1,140 1,078

Other emoluments: E < :

Salaries and allowances s & JERL 2,911 2,805
Discretionary bonuses BJI5EAL - 117
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 120 120

RSB (ERMEETE])

Subtotal /Mgt 3,031 3,042
Total #85t 4,171 4,120
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIULIEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FR ENBIFERTES 2B
during the year were as follows: ™
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET TFHET
Chan Yee Man [r#aE 180 180
Chiu Kin Fai {B{HE 180 180
Ng Hoi Yue {8 F 180 180
Total #85t 540 540
There were no other emoluments payable to the FERNEENBIIERITER 2 EHA
independent non-executive directors during the year N (20234 : &) o
(2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFEITHAEME ®)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITESEREEITHAE
Pension
scheme
Salaries and Discretionary contributions Total
Fees  allowances bonuses BIAE€ remuneration
g FERER BIETEAT HE SN [0 ke
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET TET TET TET
2024
Executive director and the managing director:
WTESRERELE
Chan Chuen Yin' [REZE " 150 1,542 - 60 1,752
Executive director and the general director:
WTEFRELE
Mok Fung Lin, Ivy BB 150 1,369 - 60 1,579
Executive directors: H{TESE :
Wong Chi Fai #7518 150 - - - 150
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SE&3 150 - - - 150
Total #&t 600 2,911 - 120 3,631
2023
Executive director and the managing director:
WTESRERELE
Chan Chuen Yin" [REZ" 88 1,489 62 60 1,699
Executive director and the general director:
WITESRELE
Mok Fung Lin, vy EE5 150 1316 55 60 1581
Executive directors: HTES :
Wong Chi Fai #7518 150 - - - 150
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa S58i% 150 - - - 150
Total #&t 538 2,805 117 120 3,580
" Appointed as executive director and managing director O R202F9RB T BHEZFERBIT
on 1 September 2022 BEENEFRKE
There was no arrangement under which a director or the FR BESFEZETETHASREK
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any FAZHEREXRERET A -

remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. FEmeiHES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year FRN AEERLARaFEESEMA
included two directors (2023: two directors), details of whose EF(2023F : MBER) EMe=ES
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the BN LIS - HER=4 (20234 1 =
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023: three) HZ)NMFERPNBDEBNFEZITHAEZ
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief EReHEENEACHESFHBENT !

executive of the Company are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances ¥4 fiE8L 2,526 2,532

Discretionary bonuses EJIS{EAL - 124

Pension scheme contributions Rk T2tk 83 162

Total 485 2,609 2,818
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest MEETIBEAN I FEERIEFETE

paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following AEZEEHEEABAT :

bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EE A
2024 2023
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = Z 1,000,000 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T - 1
Total #85 3 3
During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by the FERN AEBENRMIFERELIFEETEH
Group to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid AB 2 & 5 W 8 & S A 318 3 AT B
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group & ERESIIMAREEH N INAEREE
or as compensation for the loss of office (2023: Nil). B SRS R B E (20234 © M) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

10. INCOME TAX 10. Fh1S#
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the RN AANBNREE2024FE3H31HIEE
Company did not generate any assessable profits arising in EWRELAFMREEBNERTSA
Hong Kong during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). R b 3 S AE A S R S R (2023 4F -
/) o

2024 2023

HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Current — Hong Kong BNHA — &

Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years 31 (410)
BEFEREAR (BERE)
Deferred (note 20) #EXE (FI3E20) 346 129
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FAR BRI (K% ) #E%E 377 (281)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at BEBEERE (KRB RAEE KRB
the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (statutory tax rate for the RENBABFMAER AR IEERE)
jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority of the AEBEARRBEEEHERS (K
Group’s operating subsidiaries are domiciled) to the tax %) BEREASEEERBERFTECHIEERR
expenses/(credit) at the Group’s effective tax rate is as follows: HERINT -
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TFHET
Loss before tax (RFiEIE1E (24,629) (21,298)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% (4,064) (3,514)
BEBEEREKA16.5%TECHIEE S
Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods 31 (410)
BRI EA R 1B AR R
Income not subject to tax fEZET 2 WA (283) (765)
Expenses not deductible for tax ANATH1% 52 974 2,588
Tax losses not recognised FRIER 2 FiIEEE 5,234 1,597
Others Hfth (1,515) 223
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective tax rate 377 (281)

BAEEERREFEZRAIH (E%)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

11. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 11. Eﬂtﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ*&é%ﬁkﬂg{ﬁg
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT B Esta
The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based BREREBEDREBEFAZARLERE
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders nEEABLEERFACRITEAK
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary hn # Y 5 £(800,000,000 & ( 2023 4F :
shares of 800,000,000 (2023: 800,000,000 in issue during the 800,000,000 & ) £+ -
year.
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue REEPEZE 2024 4F [ 2023FE3 A 31 H
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. IEFEETREBTHEFRACERTEE
B o
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based T ABETEESRERLEEEE S
on: 5
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Loss 518
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used in the (25,006) (21,017)

basic and diluted loss per share calculation

SAEEREALEEEEMASAR T BREREE ABIEER

Number of shares
R EE

2024 2023

Shares %%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 800,000,000 800,000,000
used in the basic and diluted loss per share calculation

STEEREALEEEEMACFAERITEERINEFIE
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BAFEERaRbIEE

31 March 2024 82202438 31H ILFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. M3 - R R 55 il

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements B RE vehicles Total

REMRERE R fid e weat

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TERL TERL TER

31 March 2024 2024535 31 H

At 31 March 2023 and at 1 April 2023:
120235 3F 31 BR 20234818

Cost giA 66,009 6,528 2,603 75,140
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (64,277) (5,682) (1,893) (71,852)
ZEHTERBE
Net carrying amount EREEE 1,732 846 710 3,288
At 1 April 2023, net of accumulated depreciation 1,732 846 710 3,288
202354818 HKREINE
Additions ‘K& 587 2,054 - 2,641
Depreciation provided during the year (1,543) (691) (201) (2,435)
FRFTERR
Impairment JBi{& (115) (327) - (442)
At 31 March 2024, net of accumulated depreciation 661 1,882 509 3,052

and impairment

R2024E3 3310 MBREFHTENRE

At 31 March 2024: 22024463318

Cost BiA& 65,986 8,566 2,603 77,155
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (65,325) (6,684) (2,094) (74,103)
R ERRE

Net carrying amount §RENS(E 661 1,882 509 3,052
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HAFERaRbIEE

31 March 2024 B ZF2024F 38310 1LFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 12. M2  RPE B 55 il (#%)

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements B RE vehicles Total

REMmRERE R fia at:d wat

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TER TERL TER

31 March 2023 20233 A 31 5
At 1 April 2022: 1A 2022845 18 +

Cost A 68,989 6,215 2,397 77,601
Accumulated depreciation Z5HTE (60,942) (4,905) (2,008) (67,855)
Net carrying amount BREFE 8,047 1,310 389 9,746
At 1 April 2022, net of accumulated depreciation 8,047 1,310 389 9,746
R2022F 4B 18 HRRHIE
Additions & 790 396 520 1,706
Depreciation provided during the year (5,061) (649) (199) (5,909)
FRIERE
Impairment Ji/& (2,044) (211) - (2,255)
At 31 March 2023, net of accumulated depreciation 1,732 846 710 3,288

and impairment

202338 31 B » HIREHTERFIE

At 31 March 2023: 12202343 H 318 *

Cost A& 66,009 6,528 2,603 75,140

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (64,277) (5,682) (1,893) (71,852)

ZEMERRE

Net carrying amount REFE 1,732 846 710 3,288
During the year ended 31 March 2024, due to unfavourable REE2024F3831HLEFEE ARA
operating performance of the Group, the Group recognised EBECRKERBRE AEE2EHL AR
impairment losses for the year of HK$442 000 and HK$4,775,000 AU Bl & ER R EREE 18 442,000 /&
with reference to their estimated recoverable amounts to write LK 4,775,000 70 0 DI EZ E W) 2
down the carrying amounts of these items of property, plant and BELRBEEAMEAREECREME:-
equipment and right-of-use assets. The estimates of the AW ez AT RBEEREETEL
recoverable amount were based on the value-in-use and the KPRz T IRE R 25.7% °

discount rate applied is 25.7%.
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31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s
management identified certain retail stores which continued to
underperform and estimated the corresponding recoverable
amounts of their property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets. Based on these estimates, impairment
losses of HK$2,255,000 and HK$13,336,000 were recognised
to write down the carrying amounts of these items of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to their
recoverable amounts of Nil as at 31 March 2023. The estimates
of the recoverable amount were based on the value-in-use and
the discount rate applied was 15.9%.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office
properties, retail stores, warehouses and equipment used in its
operations. Leases of properties and equipment generally have
lease terms of 18 months to 5 years.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

12.

13.

M - BB R (#)

REZE2023F3831HIEFE AEH
EEEHNETHERBRAECZSER
Wit EYZE - BMEEREURERES
E A ESE - IRIEZ S M #
BB 18 2,255,000 # 7T K 13,336,000
BT LUBRZEWZE - BEREZBELUEE
FAREEEEBRN2023FE3A31HZER
BEMAZEATKESES - JRESREZ
EEt DR EEREESFEURFTER T
HEE15.9% °

HE
AEBMIEREBEA

AEBBEREANELSBECETHRANE
TEE BELRRE - MELERIBZEBR
BERT/\BRERSF-

(a) EAHEESE

ERREEEAREEY RABERES
BEIAT :

Properties

and equipment

LEYS )

HK$’ 000

TET

As at 1 April 2022 22022448 1H 71,227
Additions /A& 8,669
Lease modification FAE1&5] 25,745
Depreciation charge #& 3 H (42,511)
Impairment J&i{E (13,336)
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 72202343 8 31 H 20234481 H 49,794
Additions /A"E 14,164
Lease modification FH&E1E5] (223)
Depreciation charge #r& i (31,500)
Impairment JEi{& (4,775)
As at 31 March 2024 2202443 A 31H 27,460
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RAF5ERaRMEE
31 March 2024 #Z2024F3A31HILFE
13. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

13. & (%)

AEBERABEA ()

(b) HERfE

FRESREZREELESERSIA

T

2024

HK$’ 000
FTET

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

Carrying amount at 1 April 48 1HZREE 66,892 76,404
New leases HiHE 13,941 8,106
Lease modification FHE1E5] (223) 25,745
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 2,717 2,627
FRRER ] BIG N

Payments {I5% (44,138) (45,890)
Carrying amount at 31 March 723 A 31 HZEREE 39,189 66,892
Analysed into: 274 :

Current portion JiEIEL 2 28,300 36,777
Non-current portion FEREIEE S 10,889 30,115

Lease liabilities repayable: [E{EEHREE(E :

2024

HKS$’ 000
TET

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

Within one year —F R 28,300 36,777

In the second year "4 10,549 22,388

In the third to fifth year E=FEZEHF 340 7,727

Carrying amount at 31 March *3 8 31 HZREE 39,189 66,892
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEAGE I BTN E M HR
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. KM EE 28 I EE -
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31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

13. LEASES (continued) 13. fHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEELSEEA (&)
(e) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) NEFERZHEEBESEHRIIM
leases are as follows: T

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities B E & &EF 2 2,717 2,527
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEETERH 31,500 42511
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in selling and 3,742 4,608

distribution expenses)

BEEHRESRX (BRHEELRDHEAX)

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 29 57
liabilities (included in selling and distribution expenses)
At A EHEEE (FEAHERDHRAX ) < IEHEENRIA

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 37,988 49,703
RIB R 2 #8258

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 23(c) (d) HERSMHBRENRE M BHREN
to the consolidated financial statements. #F 23(c)# EE -

(e) Extension options (e) EFHEEE
The Group has several lease contracts that include AEFHBELETEBYEHEEENA
extension options. These options are negotiated by E5K - 2TREEMEEEERLL
management to provide flexibility in managing the ERERHEEEHASWHEAEEN
leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with the EBBRE/F - TXEHIEEREE
Group’s business needs. Set out below are the AT HAE B EMEBENARAIRE
undiscounted potential future rental payments relating to ERKEESNH(RBEEEEERRK
periods following the exercise date of extension options APE

that are not included in the lease terms:

2024

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

FEREM hEBEM st

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

T#ET THET TET

Extension options expected not to be exercised 4,998 - 4,998

TEMARET R B RERE

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIFEBRA R
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31 March 2024 #;ZF 202438 31HIHFE

13. LEASES (continued) 13. fHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBESEHEA (&)
(e) Extension options (continued) (e) ERIEIENE (#8)
2023

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

EFERZMT HFEBEM et

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET THET THET

Extension options expected not to be exercised 13,143 - 13,143

TEMRET R B RERE

The Group as a lessor AEBEAEAEA

The Group subleases certain carparks under finance lease AEBEREMEKLSHELRESPBEETE
arrangements, with the lease negotiated for a term of one year. B5 BEHERAR—F-

At 31 March 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable R2024FE3H31H AEFHEHEMRAF A
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable finance RS ERE TR B EBCRA IR
leases with its tenants are as follows: HENMmAOT -

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FExT FEx
Within one year —F R 660 660
14. INVENTORIES 14. &

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Goods held for sale HE&EEH 41,127 43,639
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31 March 2024 82202438 31H ILFE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES

15. B S FEWFRIE

2024 2023

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FExT

Trade receivables & ZEWFIE 4,238 3,359
Impairment JE{&E (337) (274)
3,901 3,085

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by major
credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the corresponding
banks or other financial institutions normally within 7 to 30
days. The Group’s trading terms with its wholesale and project
customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers,
where payment in advance and/or upon delivery is normally
required. The credit period for these customers is generally
one to two months, extending up to six months for major
project customers, or based on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and overdue balances are reviewed by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

REEZZEHERE RS AN
TEEAF /KRN ARBT
HEMESHREEBEETN7TEI0HAE
B AEEEEMBREFPRAEEFZE
BEREEZRUGEERTNER ENEF
—RBERTEARANL RRENKTS
NEE - REEPEEYN—RA—EW
BR > AREENEEEZEFRZEREN
B RN BE L RES HEMEBE B
R REENDREEZEFERBE B
R THABREEEERBMER - &
SETERES ZERFIRGHTH EM
IR mEAME IR R - B 2 BN
BRAETE -

R|EMR - AEEE 5 BUGIE (R
EBiEEE) REZRMZRRITAOT -

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TFET TFET

Within 1 month —f@B A 3,123 2,172
1 to 3 months —ZE=1EA 563 658
Over 3 months =@ B E 215 255
3,901 3,085

Included in the Group’s trade receivables was an amount due
from a member of the Emperor Group of approximately
HK$55,000 as at 31 March 2023.

R20235F3A31H AEEE 5 E W
REBERBRKREEEKERFRIEL
55,000 37T °
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31 March 2024 #;ZF 202438 31HIHFE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 15. B S EWERIE (72)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B 2R IE R EE B R < S8 E a0
receivables are as follows: T

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TFET TET

At beginning of year &#] 274 280
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses), net (note 7) 63 (6)

BEEECRERBEER )  F8H(ME7)

At end of year K 337 274
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date NERE B RA BB L EETRED
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. W UEtEEBEEEE - BHEXDHERN
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings HZERF A EETAAEMB I HEET
of various customer segments. The calculation reflects B ZEtERMRPRREHHAATESNEEG
information that is available at the reporting date about past FEEH - BRI LB TER (40
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic E)NER -

conditions, as appropriate.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TX&HIMEARBEEBREHAEEESE
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: WHIEHRNEERBINER -
As at 31 March 2024 "2024%3H31H
Past due
B HA
Less than 1t03 (0)V/-1¢
Current 1 month months 3 months
B 2R—EA —ZE=ER =EAMUL
Expected credit loss rate TEEAEEFEX 0.19% 10.74% 22.88% 33.23% 7.95%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 2,646 540 730 322 4,238
ABRTEE (55T
Expected credit losses (HK$’ 000) 5 58 167 107 337
TREEEEE (T5T)
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31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 15. B S EYIERIE (#7)
As at 31 March 2023 720233 H31H
Past due
B HA
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
B SR—EA —Z=EF =EAUL #E
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEFEXR 5.46% 10.69% 16.30% 32.63% 8.16%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 2,124 1,048 92 95 3,359
ABREE (TBT)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 116 112 15 31 274
TEHEE®EE (T%5T)
16. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 16. FATFIE « HE R B EUFRIE
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFHET TFHET
Prepayments TA{3 IR 1,877 1,523
Deposits and other receivables* &% M HADEIFRIE * 19,572 27,726
21,449 29,249
Less: Non-current portion & : JERE)ERD (4,125) (9,788)
Current portion JiEE 0 17,324 19,461
* Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables were : JR2024F3A31H EBIRE TR E
amounts due from certain members of the Emperor Group of £ B 8 A A R IE £ 2,025,000 5% T
approximately HK$2,025,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: (20234 : 1,987,000 5T ) st AREE
HK$1,987,000) which are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and REREMBKGIE BERER 28
repayable on demand. LB ERIEIE -
None of the financial assets included in the above balances 20244 K 20234 3 B 31 Het A a4
was either past due or impaired as at 31 March 2024 and BRIV Al S E AR HA R RORE © ST
2023. The financial assets included in the above balances LaisE ke SR E BT A R B R
related to deposits and other receivables for which there was iR R B IE I R & R H D W IEE
no recent history of default and past due amounts. Their B HAWE MR &EEHEANGEENR
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit status WEEE PR 2024 F 202349331 H
of the debtors, and the expected credit loss as at 31 March WA EEBEREEBR AR/ -

2024 and 2023 was considered by management to be minimal.
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31 March 2024 #;ZF 202438 31HIHFE

17. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 17. ESEMRIEREMER
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the NRFERR BZENATEARENEERZR
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as BEHEBZRBEATAOT ¢
follows:

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
Within 1 month —{@ 8 A 1,863 3,097
1 to 3 months —Z=={@R 247 1,431
Over 3 months =ER U E 175 671
2,285 5,199
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are BHENFERENEER AT EE—/%
normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days. JARR60HE 120 HAAS °
The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts AEEEZENRERENZEBREMUT
denominated in the following foreign currencies: FISMNESTHEZ FIE -
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
United States dollar (“US$”) 27T (T 25T ) 167 31
Euro (“EUR”) Bt (" BT ) 1,219 3,838
1,386 3,869
18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 18. HitFE(TFIE R FEETE B
2024 2023
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BffEE FAET FHET
Other payables and accruals EfhfE(Fr1E MK FEETE F (a) 10,398 10,806
Contract liabilities B4 & & (b) 17,252 13,214
27,650 24,020
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31 March 2024 82202438 31H ILFE

18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

Notes:

18. HibFE(TFIERFESTE R ()
S

R2024F3A3THENREEEKE

(a) Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals was an (a)

amount due to a member of the Emperor Group of
approximately HK$2,042,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$2,625,000), which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and

NTERIE#9 2,042,000 7T (2023 4F -
2,625,000 87T ) T AREEEAMEL TR
EREGFER - 2SR EAEKRF &

BRAZERERE - BREAEI > HA
FENFIEARE  FHHRA—ER -

repayable on demand. Except for the above, other payables

are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one

month.
(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) BHNEaEZHBEIAT :
31 March

2024
2024 F

31 March
2023
2023 &£
3HB831H

HK$’ 000
TFET

1 April
2022
2022 &
481H

HK$’ 000
TFExT

3H31H

HK$’ 000
FExT

Consideration received from customers in advance

BlEFRE

Sale of goods $HEE @ 17,078 12,816 20,443

Sale of gift vouchers 1254 & 174 398 860

Total contract liabilities &% & (E42%8 17,252 13,214 21,303
Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance BHNEEBRBRIRIIRNERBERE

RS EESE . R2024F3831HAY
EEEMDFEEHANFRAEFRIEED
WE PR EBFIELINATE - 720234 3
A3HENEERASDEEHN LE—
FEERABEREECKES BHBIUR
DETEL

of the delivery of goods and for the sale of gift vouchers. The
increase in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2024 was mainly
due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sales of goods at the end of the
year. The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2023
was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sales of goods at
the end of the prior year.

19. PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the terms of the relevant tenancy agreements, the
Group, as the lessee of certain properties under operating
leases, has the obligations to reinstate its leased properties to
their original state or to a condition as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements at the cost of the Group at the
end/upon the termination of the relevant lease terms.

19. B

REFBEHERERT . FEEEAER
HERTETYRZABARERESES
BRI BEABEHERYES
FERNZEEBHEEWZMREZMRR - B
FBAAEEAE -
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31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

19. PROVISIONS (continued) 19. B ()
Provisions for reinstatement costs 1&18 Pk A B fis
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
At beginning of year &4 10,262 10,838
Additional provisions Z89MN & 96 _
Amounts utilised during the year FRNE B F£%E (85) (576)
Decrease in estimated provisions st # & EA (15) -
At 31 March F*3 8 31 H 10,258 10,262
Less: Non-current portion J& : FERENES 2 (4,595) (6,521)
Current portion )& 5,663 3,741
The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined based BEREABREDRBEAARESTS2EBE
on certain assumptions and estimates made by the directors of KL AIBAERNMEH 2 BREMEFTME
the Company with reference to past experience and available Eo ZERJEMGFAELNREBEVBEE
information. The assumptions and estimates are reviewed, and Rt REX (2EA ) -

revised where appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 20. RIEMIEEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as REEREEENFERNZEBNT ¢
follows:

Depreciation in

excess of

related

depreciation

allowance

BEEEITE

BisZinE

HK$’ 000

T

At 1 April 2022 720224 48 1H 5,311

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year 10 (129)
FARBRINRCELERIE

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 }220234 38 31 H X 2023F 48 1 H 5,182

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year &R 18 3 0k EIE R IE 10 (346)

At 31 March 2024 }2 202443 H 31 H 4,836
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20.

21,

22.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$39,203,000 (2023: HK$7,482,000) that may be
carried forward indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the company in which the loss arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax loss as it
has arisen in a subsidiary that it is currently not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
tax loss can be utilised.

SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Issued and fully paid Shares: E&1T K BEH RN ¢

20.

21,

EERIBEE ()

MR20244F 3831 H AEENREBESL
2 1 T8 B 18 39,203,000 3 7T (2023 4F -
7,482,000 7T ) AT EREAAA E DR E

B ERIABRERELEREEE R
HAEEEER—RERBRNRNARELE

BAT-
BE A
3

2024 2023

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

800,000,000 (2023: 800,000,000) ordinary shares 110,337 110,337
800,000,000 ( 2023 4 : 800,000,000 ) & 48 Mg
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 22 BERGHEETE

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 8 January 2018.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate talented

eligible participants to strive for future developments and

expansion of the Group.
(b) Eligibility
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
any director, including any executive or independent
non-executive director, any employee of any member of
the Group, any trustee of a trust whose beneficiaries or
objects include any employee or business associate of the
Group, any adviser or consultant to the Group, any
provider of goods and / or services to the Group, or any
other person who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group.

ANFFR 20184 1 A 8 HRM—IE B #E
=& (TR REETE ) -

BT B TR EFMALIT ¢

(a) EERREEBIZEN

REREERERS  RELHBBEL
B AERSEELFEREER R
DI T

&g
BREFECAERZRERESRE
BEMKEARZAMNES (BFEE
MAITHBIUIFATES ) EAR
B RBAXNZRHRBERREE
MRENEFHEANEENEMRE
A AEREEAEMIEAA K
SEEMERL IR HEEK
FANAEFE2ENBRAHNEIEER
BERMNA RS FHERMEMEMD
AtLe

(b)
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31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE
22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c) Total number of shares available for issue under the Share

Option Scheme

Total number of shares available for issue: 80,000,000
shares, representing 10% of the total number of issued

shares as at the date of this annual report.

(d) Maximum entitiement of each eligible participant under the

Share Option Scheme

(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the total number of
the shares in issue in any 12-month period unless

approved by the shareholders; and

(i) options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors or their respective
associates in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the shares in issue and with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the shareholders.

(e) Period within which options may be exercised by the

grantee under the Share Option Scheme

At any time from the date of grant of the option to such a
date determined by the Board but in any event not

exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

(f) Vesting period for options granted under the Share Option

Scheme

No vesting period unless otherwise determined by the

Board.

(@
option: HK$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must or
may be made: Within 28 days from the date of grant;

and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
Annual Report 2023/2024 S

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the

22, BERGHEETEI (8)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

RIREB AR IERT BT FRIT 2R
R

] it 8% 17 2 B 17 #2 87 1 80,000,000
B MERAFHRBHERITRMDE
BHI10% °

RBBRIEFEITEESERS
EE T EIRELS LR

(i) BRIFERCRHE  BRIFEEM 12
BRBEABHASBBERT
B RBZ 1% 5 &

(i) NEMI2EAHBAREEZR
ERBUFRNTESNFEESF
CHBARECEBRE . B8
BERITHRMZ01%NEEBB
5,000,000 BT/ &K A BHEAE ©

BB EETBIIE T AR AR 1T(ERS
B 48 2 HABR
EERHBRENPEEEETSETS
BE B EMEE EREAER
T AEEAEEHBEET10E-

RERRIEET I T IR < B Rt
Z 5B

BRFEREETEE SATERS
% o

) ERERSEANE AR AR
£% 0 1.0087T

(

(i) WA AT RE(S FR S B AT T2 B
o BRHEBEEF28 R &

0

(iii) TERBAMT KA BRI E K]
EHIR - NEH -
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

22, BERSIEETEl (@)
(h) BETlEEZESE

TEEDHARDEFGEE  EAR
BERTIRSE ()N K HH B
W HBRATRER LARA AR
2 W& - K (b)) BB H H
AIREEXEMBRMEARERLE
FTRA QB AR 2 F 1 B3 BT

The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company and will not be less than the highest of (a)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the date of grant; and
(b) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for

the five business days immediately preceding the date of B
grant.
(i) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (i) FERRIEETEIBR T HA

Approximately 3.5 years (expiring on 7 January 2028) #)3.5F (JR2028FE1B7HEW)

BRREIIERERBE  BERBKRE
RIBBRETEERE -

23. IR IMERERMEE

No share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme.

23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, additional
provisions for reinstatement costs in respect of certain
leased properties of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$96,000 were recognised and these
amounts were recognised as part of the cost of
related property, plant and equipment of the Group
and reflected as additions to leasehold improvements
of the Group during the year.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$13,941,000
(2023: HK$8,106,000) and HK$13,941,000 (2023:
HK$8,106,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for leased properties.

(a) EEFRERS

(i)

BE2024F3831HIEEE
MAEEE %%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂ’ﬁtﬂ
CEERABRENBEEN
96,000/ BEEREERR
AEEEBEYE - BB REER
Kz —#5 EBAEWEW/}%ZK
SECHEDERBRE

RER » AEERBRYECE
ERHNREEFERAREERAE
BaECIERERE13,941,000
It (20234 : 8,106,000/
) M 13,941,000 (2023
£ 1 8,106,0005& 7T ) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 8;Z 202438315 ILFE

23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 23. iZSIR&Rn=RMEE (&)
FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liahilities arising from financing activities (b) MEEHEEZEBEZEEF

2024

Lease

liabilities

HEas

HK$’ 000

FET

At 1 April 2023 }22023F 48 1H 66,892
Changes from financing cash flows REREHE - 25 (44,138)
New leases #iHE 13,941
Lease modification FAE &3] (223)
Interest expense ¥ S5 2,717
At 31 March 2024 720243 8 31 H 39,189

2023
Lease
liabilities
HEaE
HK$’ 000
FET
At 1 April 2022 2 2022F 48 1H 76,404
Changes from financing cash flows RIE R &M E w2 B E) (45,890)
New leases & 8,106
Lease modification & {&5] 25,745
Interest expense ¥ S5 2,527
At 31 March 2023 1220234 3 H 31 H 66,392
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZBRERHESE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement SFARESRERCHEZRESMEE
of cash flows is as follows: BEFIAT ¢
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Within operating activities & &5E8 A 3,771 4,665
Within financing activities Rl & EE A 44,138 45,890
47,909 50,555
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAFEERaRbIEE

31 March 2024 82202438 31H ILFE

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
certain members of the Emperor Group during the year:

Sales of goods FI s E

Interest expense on lease liabilities & & &2 H 85I

Lease payments FE 3R

Reimbursement of administrative expenses

TR BN

Financial advisory fees B 75 RARSZ
Company secretarial fees AR MEE
Promotion fees (B35 &

Rental expenses F& X

24. BB S R 5
(a) BREHFEUBRREMITHHL

(vii

P RYPEREHRI NREBRE
NEETREEBREATBLUTR
5

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
3,221 5,073
288 144
4,511 7,308
2,546 2,286
383 360
278 278

- 400
2,592 96

The underlying related party transactions as set out in
notes (i) and (ii) below mainly constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The sales of goods were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

During the year, the Group had certain lease arrangements
ranging from two to three years with certain members of
the Emperor Group in connection with the leasing of
certain office properties and retail stores. The right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2024 were
HK$4,128,000 (2023: HK$2,755,000) and HK$4,228,000
(2023: HK$2,783,000), respectively.

The reimbursement of administrative expenses was
charged with reference to the costs incurred by the
relevant party.

The financial advisory fees were charged based on terms
as set out in the respective agreement.

The company secretarial fees were charged based on
terms as set out in the respective agreement.

DEGEIOLADEEIPREE L) -y )
FERBER LHRAE UAEMAECFE

et

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

P am K E Ty B AR B T3 IR AR B3 10 R AT
Bl ez BT

NAEE AEBRBEETHAE
ERFERHEETREEEREN
A vhAERME=FrETHERH-
R2024F3831H FRABEERE
5 & E 5D 3 54,128,000 75 (2023
£F 1 2,755,000/ 7T ) £ 4,228,000 % JT
(20234 : 2,783,0003#7T ) °

WEZ TR Y2 EZMB I EEZ
BAES -
ATl e M BB B RTINS i #E e
PRERUCER °

NRWEETIIRIER W E T BRI
B e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 #;ZF 202438 31HIHFE

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 24. RAER 535 (#8)
(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Notes: (Continued) Boer - (4&)
(vi) The promotion fees were charged based on terms as set (vi) (RSB DIRER W BT E I B
out in the respective agreement. B o
(vii) The rental expenses were charged based on terms as set (vii) HERXZHIREHEBZETH K
out in the lease agreement. FRULER
(b) The amount due from the immediate holding company (b) FFAXRAQTRENE EZ EWE HEZK
included in the Company’s current assets is unsecured, NEZFIEREIER . ARKREARE
interest-free and repayable on demand. SKIEZE ©
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) REBEFESEASFM :
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Fees 1 1,140 1,078
Short-term employee benefits f5Hi{E 24&F| 5,437 5,578
Post-employment benefits BEE 7 202 282
5,639 5,860
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,779 6,938

NFEEEEAEZFHHEER

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EFERTETRAEMES cEMFHE
emoluments are included in note 8 to the consolidated BN ARG M IETREMIFES -
financial statements.
25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 25. ZABE
At 31 March 2024, contingent liabilities not provided for by the 2024 3R 31H REEX KNGS
Group in the consolidated financial statements were as follows: R EREHB B IAGENT -

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET

In connection with bank guarantees given to a landlord in lieu of a rental 2,187 2,187
deposit required under certain tenancy agreements
BRER—RZETFECBITER  UIRBETHEBRBZRECHS RS

In connection with a bank guarantee given to a customer in lieu of a - 171
surety bond required under a certain project sales agreement

AR —RBEEFEHIRITER URBEETREHERERTEZBORE

2,187 2,358
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26. IZEREI D 2EMTE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FEMNERTERRSHRZEKREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: I
Financial assets THMEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

R ATI B ZERMEE

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET TET

Trade receivables & 3 EW IS 3,901 3,085

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 19,572 27,726
STATBNRIE e REMEBKRIENSREE

Cash and cash equivalents IR& LIRS ZEY) 43,358 62,059

66,831 92,870

Financial liabilities cHMEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHA AT EZEMBRE

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Trade and bills payables B Z &SI N EA ZiK 2,285 5,199
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 8,404 8,951
FFAEMENFIELESERANERAE
Lease liabilities FHE& & 39,189 66,892
49,878 81,042
27. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 27. &M T HAZATFERATFEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the RHREPRR FEECESREERSHE
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably BERMESEMEENTERE -

approximated to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are TRMEEMBBECATERTIENBREYE
included at the amount at which the instrument could be FBeBRR S (GRESA S & HER
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, N TR RBAR LT AERR
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following HITANEETATE ¢

methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

27.

28.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables, and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities/
repayable on demand clause of these instruments or the effect
of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables had
been calculated and assessed mainly by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, as appropriate. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade and bills payables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
and other financial liabilities, which mainly arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group’s
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies other than the
units’ functional currency. For the year ended 31 March 2024,
certain purchases of the Group were denominated in EUR, which
is different from the functional currencies of the respective
operating units. The directors of the Company do not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate as the
HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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 ETERZRETENE
HMESA BERERER RS
REK -

FTAFENFIE e REMEKGIENS
RMEENIEREB AN AFEETERT
it EEZHEAGR EERBKFERIER
(2N ) AN T EMNRTA XLIRTE
BRRIBEM=E » PR 2024 4F K 202343
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NFEEEBW T ERIALAERK -
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R B sfAan T -

4 EE LB
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 2024438315 ILEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. HREEEIEBIZEREBUR (@)

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

SMERBE (78 )

TRETRBERREMBEMEERST
RBZERT  ARBESRHAIEEHET
EXAREHRCAERS (AEBREER
BEZATEES) 2BRHE-

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
EUR exchange in loss
rate before tax
ExTER E35eEn] =]
B, CEd) R )
HK$’ 000
% TET
2024
If HK$ weakens against EUR {#8 T A BTz & 5 61
If HK$ strengthens against EUR {4 7T 5 BR T FHE (5) (61)

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease)

EUR exchange in loss
rate before tax

ExTESR FRAR A0SR F

1, (R ) (R )
HK$’ 000
% TFET

2023

If HK$ weakens against EUR {45 7T 5. BR T B (8 5 192
If HK$ strengthens against EUR {3 7T A BUT FHE (5) (192)

The directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
exposure on foreign currency risk as at 31 March 2024 and
2023 was not significant.

Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s general policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

ARABAEERR AEER2024F K
20234F 3 H 31 HZMERRITAREK °

EEERRE

AEEELRERTHEERIFCE=NE
TEEEE - AREZEERR FIEEER
ETEEEECRPFYABREERER
FFe ltoh BUEIRERDRFECER
BETER MARERHCRRERAS

Ko
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 20244 3831H ILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. I RS EIE BEEREIR ()
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EE R ()

Maximum exposure and year-end staging R KB fE R TF AR P E

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum T&REFINIA 31 BIRBEAREBEEEBUER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, NEEBREMASZNEREERR (K
which is mainly based on past due information unless other FMENEADERANE DM AEEHE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and thER SAFEERCBHEN) RF
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts REEER DB T2 SR ATHEENE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. BRIEME -

As at 31 March 2024 MM2024FE3H31H

12-month
ECLs

+=EAR

TREAEE Lifetime ECLs
Eig ZHiTRRAE EE1E

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—PEE E PSR E=PREE [k wspeS et

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET FET FET FHET
Trade receivables* & 3 EWFIE - - - 4,238 4,238

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
STATENRIE » Re REMBKGIER

THEE

— Normal** —IE& ** 19,572 - - - 19,572
Cash and cash equivalents
REMREFEY

- Not yet past due — HARBH 43,358 - - - 43,358

62,930 =

4,238 67,168
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RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 #{Z 2024438315 ILEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. I EEEIE BEEREIR ()
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE (1)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BRABfER FRFEER (18)
As at 31 March 2023 720233 A31H

12-month
ECLs

+=EA

THHAEE Lifetime ECLs
58 ZHFRHE ER1E

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
— P& EPEE E=PEE ks E et

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables* B S EWFIE - - - 3,359 3,359

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

STATEN IR e REMBUGHIENSRME

=3
- Normal** —IE&** 27,726 - - - 27,726
Cash and cash equivalents
RELREEEYD
— Not yet past due — K& H 62,059 - - - 62,059
89,785 - - 3,359 93,144

*  For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified ' $$§%%%F’EH& RIFFE A E(LRET
approach for impairment, further detailed information is = E—SH BN E M EIRERMWE 15
disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. TB‘ZE@L’

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in YETATENRIE e REMBEKGRNE
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to MEENGEEBEEERBPRERR
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no TEE o WAMBENETSREER
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BB URGEERRAEAZIEM -
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Liquidity risk e E & R B

The Group's objective is to maintain adequate funds to meet AEEEERFRAEZESMmEHES

commitments associated with its financial liabilities. Cash flows MEBEEECAE  AEERREREE

of the Group are closely monitored by senior management on EAEEcHEeERHEREEZTHIER
an on-going basis, considering the maturity of the Group's DRSS TEIEHSHE  REELLS
financial liabilities and financial assets, and projected cash HEZY)ERBSRE

flows from operations.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand
BEX

HK$’ 000
FET

31 March 2024 202453831 H

28. I ASEIEBIZRBUR (&)

RENE SR ()
FEERBREMRCSHEBENREITN

RITBENA R EHIBE RN -

Less than
1 year
PR—E

HK$’ 000
FET

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’ 000
FET

Total
HEEh

HK$’ 000
FET

Trade and bills payables 2 ZENFIAK - 2,285 - 2,285
EN
Financial liabilities included in other 2,042 6,362 - 8,404
payables and accruals
FFAEMENFIELES BN/ AE
Lease liabilities fHE& & - 29,564 11,182 40,746
2,042 38,211 11,182 51,435

On demand

REXK

HK$’ 000
FET

31 March 2023 202343 A 31 H

Less than
1 year

PR—EE

HK$’ 000
FEXT

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’ 000
FET

Total
st

HK$’ 000
FET

Trade and bills payables 8 ZERFIE K& - 5,199 - 5,199
e R
Financial liabilities included in other 2,625 6,326 - 8,951
payables and accruals
STAERMENRELESERNSHERE
Lease liabilities fHE & & - 39,047 30,995 70,042
2,625 50,5672 30,995 84,192
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2024 B ZE 202438310 1EFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. HREEEIEBIZEREBUR (@)

POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000 (2023:
HK$97,000,000), of which HK$6,861,000 (2023: HK$7,455,000)
was utilised as at 31 March 2024.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

RBEEEE ()

R2024FE3A31H AEBEZRITR
& HEE#9 /97,000,000 7% JT ( 2023 4F -
97,000,000 JT )+ H A R 2024F3 8
318 2 & FH 6,861,000 JT (20234 :
7,455,000 7T ) ©

EAXEE
AEEEAEB T EBERRBERAER
BRNEERFERESTNEE WS
BEBZEALR DXFEEELEER
RREREE -

AKEERBLER B RIEBREES
BRSEERERARBUFHAE - b
FFSTAR E AL » REE AR IR
FTHRECKS  BREEATREIRITH
f&AD - B E 2024 F 2 202343 A 31H
HFE AEEEEEXRCBE Y BURY
EFilEEIREs)-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIaE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1IEFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. KRB 2 AR TR
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RREARBBAARQADTHIRNRN TR ER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: o

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEAREIEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBATZIHE 6,065 6,065

CURRENT ASSETS mg&E

Due from subsidiaries FEW KB /A T8 84,434 62,812
Due from the immediate holding company JEW BE #5232 i /A 7 5118 3 3
Prepayments and other receivables &Ik I8 K E b fE Wk 18 195 151
Cash and cash equivalents Il & KIHESEY) 25,308 45,416
Total current assets FiEEEALE 109,940 108,382

CURRENT LIABILITIES r@h&a &

Other payables and accruals HHBfEN 718 & fEs+E 617 606
NET CURRENT ASSETS B &&EFE 109,323 107,776
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&E R ARSI EE 115,388 113,841
Net assets EEFE 115,388 113,841

EQUITY #E3s

Share capital fZA& 110,337 110,337
Retained profits (note) fR &A1 ( izt ) 5,051 3,504
Total equity HEzS 4828 115,388 113,841
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander Chan ChuenYin
1ZIELEE FREE
Director Director
BE BE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRPfIEE

31 March 2024 & Z 202438318 1ILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. KRB 2B ARR TR (%)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: MET -
A summary of the movements in the Company’s retained profits/ KRR RE &R (REE ) &8t
(accumulated losses) is as follows: T

Retained

profits

REBRF

HK$’ 000

FHExT

At 1 April 2022 /2 2022 F 4 B 1 A 6,070
Profit and total comprehensive loss for the year R N 2 E B 124248 1,434
Final 2022 dividend 2022 R & (4,000)

At 31 March 2023 and at 1 April 2023 7 2023 £ 3 31 HX 2023F 4 B 1 H 3,504

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 R F| &2 WA A28 1,547

At 31 March 2024 74 2024 4 3 A 31 H 5,051

30. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30. #t R FEERTR
The consolidated financial statements were approved and RAMBRERDN2024F6 A 27THES
authorised for issue by the Board on 27 June 2024. B ERRRETIR -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFFHRE

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities of  FRFIAEBREZE 20204 « 2021 4 ~ 2022
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 4~ 20234 202438310 It F E =2 #*
and 2024: wBEABE:

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANNHLEE

2020 2022 2023 2024

“ECISEF CF —E--f -“E-=f —E-NE

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET TET

Results ¥i8

Revenue WA 218,853 234,504 225,457 216,148 171,638
Profit/(loss) before tax BRFLETEF], (&8 ) (13,851) 19,652 5,818 (21,298) (24,629)
Income tax credit/(expense) 2,223 (2,826) (1,676) 281 (377)
FgRiEe, (Fx)

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent (11,628) 16,826 4,142 (21,017) (25,006)

AR ARMLEF,(BER)

As at 31 March
m3HA31H

2020 2022 2023 2024

—ETEF = —=E—— —=E-= —EME

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

Assets and liabilities BEERE&

Total assets #2 & & 199,483 214,260 250,486 196,296 145,183
Total liabilities #2& & (100,677) (98,628) (135,752)  (106,579) (80,472)
Net assets EEFE 98,806 115,632 114,734 89,717 64,711
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 98,806 115,632 114,734 89,717 64,711

BRABHEEABLER
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